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SOLID
FOUNDATION
A SOLID FOUNDATION, having been laid by the founding fathers in 1955, has enabled
Antigua Commercial Bank (ACB) to sustain its position as the leading indigenous
financial services provider operating within the State of Antigua and Barbuda.
Firm in its commitment to its stakeholders, ACB continues to exceed expectations
through exemplary customer service, innovative products and the ability to adapt to
an ever changing environment.
STRONG …

SOLID FOUNDATION

FIRM… STURDY… SOUND … remain synonymous with the ACB
Group, 56 years and beyond.

Antigua Co-operative Bank premises 1955-1969
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OUR MISSION
At ACB we aim to be the best financial services
provider, creating wealth for our customers,
investors, staff and communities both regionally
and beyond.

OUR VISION
To be the premier financial and related services
provider to each client we serve worldwide, creating
wealth and opportunities for all stakeholders in an
ever changing environment.

OUR PHILOSOPHY
We believe that we were created to be an essential contributor
to the life of our stakeholders. In this pursuit of our Vision we will
be continually guided by the following principles:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
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Focus on creating wealth;
Transparency in all we do;
Good customer relations;
Decision making that is research driven, timely and prompt;
A continuous pursuit of the spirit of enterprise;
Caring and respect for the individual;
Good corporate citizenship;
Enduring sustainability.

SOLID FOUNDATION

CORPORATE
INFORMATION
Registered Office and Postal Address
Thames & St. Mary’s Streets
P.O. Box 95, St. John’s, Antigua, West Indies

Email Address
acb@acbonline.com
Website
www.acbonline.com

Service Locations
ACB Head Office:
Thames & St. Mary’s Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
ACB Financial Centre:
High & Temple Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
Village Walk Branch:
Village Walk Commercial Center Ltd.,
Friars Hill Road, St. John’s, Antigua
Airport Agency:
V.C. Bird International Airport, Coolidge,
St. George, Antigua
Barbuda Agency:
Codrington, Barbuda

ATM Locations
ACB Head Office:
Thames & St. Mary’s Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
ACB Financial Centre:
High & Temple Streets, St. John’s, Antigua

Contact Number
(268) 481-4200
Fax Number
(268) 481-4229
Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Chartered Accountants
11 Old Parham Road, P.O. Box 1531,
St. John’s, Antigua

Corresponding Banking Relationships
St. Kitts- Nevis- Anguilla National Bank Ltd.
Republic Bank (Grenada) Ltd.
1st National Bank of St. Lucia Ltd.
National Commercial Bank (SVG) Ltd.
National Bank of Anguilla Ltd.
Bank of St. Lucia Ltd.
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank
Barbados National Bank Inc.
Bank of America
Bank of Montreal
RBTT Bank Jamaica Ltd.
Guyana National Co-op Bank
National Bank of Dominica

Epicurean Fine Foods & Pharmacy:
Epicurean Drive, St. John’s, Antigua
Village Walk Commercial Center Ltd.:
Friars Hill Road, St. John’s, Antigua
Airport Agency: V.C. Bird International Airport:
Coolidge, St. George, Antigua
Barbuda Agency:
Codrington, Barbuda
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fifty – Sixth Annual General Meeting of Antigua Commercial
Bank will be held in the Conference Room at the City View Hotel located on Newgate Street,
St. John’s, Antigua on Thursday the 20th day of December, 2012 at 3:00pm.

AGENDA
1.

Call to Order

2.

Prayers

3.

Agenda

4.

Chairman’s Remarks

5.

Confirm the Minutes of the 55th Annual General Meeting

6.

Consider Matters arising from the Minutes of the 55th Annual General Meeting

7.

Elect Directors and fix their remuneration

8.

Present the Chairman’s and Directors’ Reports

9.

Consider the Financial Statements for the year ended September, 30, 2011 and the report
of the Auditors

10.

Declare a Dividend for the financial year ended September, 30, 2011

11.

Appoint the Auditors for the year ending September, 30, 2012 and to authorize the Board
to fix their remuneration

12.

Transact any other business which may properly come before an Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

………………………………………………..
RHODETTE  PAIGE
LEGAL COUNSEL/ CORPORATE SECRETARY
November 23, 2012

SOLID FOUNDATION

5

C. Davidson Charles
Chairman, Antigua Commercial Bank
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CHAIRMAN’S
REPORT
ECONOMIC OVERVIEW
This year was a difficult year for the global economy
in that there was a marked slowdown in economic
recovery compared to 2010. The United States,
Germany, the United Kingdom, China and Canada
recorded GDP growths of 1.5%, 2.7%, 1.1%, 9.5%
and 2.1% respectively in 2011 compared to 3.0%,
3.6%, 1.4%,10.3% and 3.2% respectively in 2010.
Japan actually declined by 0.5% compared to
growth of 4% in 2010. The slowdown resulted from
continued financial volatility, natural disasters such
as in the case of Japan, significant national debts
and of course, increasing oil and food prices. It is
well known that economic challenges in countries
such as the United States and United Kingdom
inevitably result in even greater challenges for
small countries like Antigua & Barbuda. The United
States suffered a high unemployment rate at 9.1
% and serious erosion of consumer confidence
as well as the downgrading of its credit rating.
Consequently, Antigua and Barbuda’s vital tourism
sector declined and the scarcity of Foreign Direct
Investments (FDI) meant that the construction
industry, which is a major contributor to GDP, also
experienced significant decline so that overall,
the country encountered severe economic and
financial difficulties and challenges marked by high
unemployment.
Largely because of the above-mentioned downturn
in tourism and construction, Antigua & Barbuda
recorded a decline of some 3% in real GDP in 2011.
This followed declines of 7.1% and 4.1% in 2009
and 2010 respectively so that the fiscal challenges,
that assailed the country since the advent of the
global financial crisis in 2008 continued unabated
in 2011 and in fact worsened. The inevitable
contraction and closure of businesses increased
the unemployment rate. These unfavourable or
negative developments were very troubling for
financial institutions as delinquency ratios and the
level of Non-Performing loans spiked, thus making
increased provision for possible loan losses and
write-offs necessary in the face of declining real
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estate values and the general lack of interest by
the public in acquiring same. The net effect of
higher loan provisions and loan write-offs caused
a lower earnings result.

PERFORMANCE - ACB GROUP
The Antigua Commercial Bank Group recorded
net income of $7.7 million down from $14.4
million generated the previous year. This decline
occurred despite no major decrease in total
income and resulted from significant provisioning
for and write-off of impaired loans. In the difficult
economic and financial environment in which
the Group has been operating and which, based
on well-founded predictions, is expected to be
prolonged, it was prudent that such provisioning
and write-offs not be delayed and taking this
action has served to improve the quality of our
assets.
The Group’s asset base grew by $23 million with
loans and advances, the Group’s core business
activity, increasing by $16 million and represented
69% of the growth. Our loans portfolio growth
highlighted good management of
lending
opportunities and was encouraging given the
severe contraction of the country’s economy.
The Group’s liquidity remained adequate and for
the most part, very strong throughout the fiscal so
that it was consistently in a very good position to
meet all its commitments.

ACB MORTGAGE AND TRUST
COMPANY LIMITED
The Company, ACB Mortgage and Trust
Company Limited continued on a prudent path in
an environment of heightened uncertainty and as
a result, the Company expanded its asset base
by 5.80% to $250 million from $236.3 million. Its
core business of loans and advances recorded
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an increase of 3.67% to $166.6 million from $160.7
million. This outcome was supported by a 4.99%
increase in deposit liabilities that climbed to $203.9
million from $194.2 million.

The 2011 recipient was Mr. Kareem Martin, a
student at the University of the West Indies Cave
Hill Campus in Barbados, whose area of study
was Economics and Management.

Notwithstanding the continued downward push of
interest rates on mortgages from a very competitive
environment and relatively low rates of return on
deposit investments, the subsidiary recorded
growth in its interest income of 2.81% to $18.3
million from $17.8 million. At the same time the
subsidiary interest expense increased marginally
by 0.55% to $10.93 million from $10.87 million
on deposit liabilities that moved upwards by $9.70
million.

We continued our sponsorship of the International
College Fair which attracted representatives of
colleges and universities from the USA, Canada,
and the Caribbean. In addition to the two-day Fair,
the Group also sponsored the Annual Business
Interview Challenge for fifth form students.

ACB Mortgage and Trust Company Limited,the
subsidiary, recorded profit after impairment of
investment and taxation of $3.9 million, a decline of
7.14% as compared to $4.2 million for the previous
year

STRATEGIC INITIATIVES
Following the creation of a new branch at the Village
Walk Commercial Centre on Friar’s Hill Road, the
Bank merged the activities of retail lending and
recoveries and relocated the department from
its Head Office to the ACB Financial Centre on
High & Temple Streets, St. John’s, Antigua. The
establishment of the ACB Loans Centre, allowed
for utilization of the synergies relative to lending
between the two units, and has created a one stop
shop convenient environment for the customer.

ACB COMMITTED TO OUR ROLE AS A GOOD
CORPORATE CITIZEN.
One of the Group’s Core Values is to promote
good corporate citizenship.   We believe that the
success of the ACB Group is due in a large part to
the contributions from the community in which we
serve. As such, we continue to focus on our core
values of education, sports and culture as areas
in which we can create the greatest impact on the
lives of our people.
The flagship programme in Education, the Antigua
Commercial Bank Louis H. Lockhart Scholarship,
is awarded each year to an outstanding student to
complete the final year of undergraduate studies.
8

The Group made a donation of specially designed
workbooks to the Drug Abuse Resistance
Education Programme (DARE), an initiative of the
Royal Police Force of Antigua and Barbuda and the
Ministry of Education Culture and Youth Affairs.
The programme teaches students several life
skills and practical techniques to enable them to
resist drugs and abstain from violent behaviours.
In addition to Drug Prevention Education, it also
teaches students good decision making skills and
helps them to avoid high risk behaviour.
The Group remained a major sponsor of the
Annual Dr. Alister Francis Memorial Lecture. We
also started a “Go Green” Initiative at the Antigua
State College. This was the first phase of the
Group’s plan to create a park area on the campus
for students to use as a study area.
In Sports, Antigua Commercial Bank continued
to support the development of cricket boasting
a thirty-two year relationship with Parish League
Cricket. This programme provides grass root
training to hone and develop cricketing skills at
the community level. A number of successful
cricketers have emerged from this League.
In Culture, our aim continues to be the preservation
of the indigenous art form of the steel pan. As
such, the Group renewed its Title Sponsorship
of the Carnival Panorama Competition and the
Schools Independence Panorama Competition.
We also made a contribution to the young pannist,
Miss Chekiyah Martin, to assist in her efforts to
increase the exposure of pan in Africa.
Other philanthropic activities during the period
under review included the Staff Christmas Pantry
where thirty families in need benefited from the
food packages donated by staff. Additionally, we
held our annual visit to the Fiennes Institute by our
Directors and Management Team. Our Christmas
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in the Park programme brought Christmas cheer
to those in attendance while raising funds to
benefit the Museum of Antigua and Barbuda.

HR ACHIEVEMENTS
During the fiscal, the Group implemented a new
recognition programme for all staff named The
Employee of Year Award. Three employees were
honoured for their performances at a Ball held
subsequent to the end of the fiscal.
We continued to recognize and appreciate the
need to train our employees in order to equip
them with the knowledge and skills required to
do their jobs effectively and well. Therefore, as in
previous years, training internally and externally
was carried out extensively to the benefit of many
employees and by extension, the ACB Group.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
Our customers, shareholders and other
stakeholders have stood by us throughout these
difficult economic times and on behalf of the
Board of Directors, I express my deep gratitude
and appreciation for their loyalty, support and
confidence in Antigua Commercial Bank. I also
thank our staff for their continued support and
invaluable contribution to the Group’s results in
fiscal 2011 and their dedication to excellence
over the years.

C. DAVIDSON CHARLES
CHAIRMAN- BOARD OF DIRECTORS

LOOKING AHEAD
Strong and effective Corporate Governance
Practices by members of the Board of Directors
and Management of the Group have been and
continued to be the key drivers of our operations.
In fact, in the face of extended difficult economic
conditions, which continued to greatly affect the
banking industry worldwide and in the region, our
focus on good corporate governance remained
even greater and together with vigilant and
effective leadership, the Group continued to be
profitable.
The predictions from many credible sources are
that the economic turmoil, which commenced in
2008, will likely continue into 2015 depending on
how quickly the economies of the United States
and Europe recover. With respect to the latter, the
austerity measures implemented by Greece and
Spain have placed tremendous hardships on their
populace and at this stage, significant challenges
are expected going forward.
Notwithstanding the bleak economic outlook we
are convinced that our management team and
staff possess the experience and knowledge
required to guide the Group on a profitable path
through the extended economic turbulence. We
shall also continue to be guided by our established
tradition of Strength, Service and Solution.
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Gordon Derrick
Chairman, ACB Mortgage &
Trust Company Ltd.
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Corporate Social
Responsibility
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From left ro right: 1. Recipient of 2011 ACB Louis H. Lockhart Scholarship, Kareem Martin 2. Residents
of Fiennes Institute enjoy an afternoon with ACB Team Members at its annual Independence luncheon
hosted by ACB 3. Participants of the Independence National Schools Panorama showcase their love of
pan 4. Winner of ACB Business Interview Challenge Michai Robertson at College Fair, 2011 5. Youth
Choir members make a joyful noise at ACB’s Christmas in the Park 6. ACB Staffers and Christmas Pantry
beneficiaries 7. Chekiyah Martin, a promising pannist receives a monetary donation from ACB 8. Wanda
Clarke, representative for the Carnival Development Committee, receives the Panorama Sponsorship from
ACB Marketing and PR Executive Shawn Nicholas  9. Participants of ACB’s Business Interview Challenge
at College Fair 2011. 10. Antigua Commercial Bank Parish League 2011 Winners, Pigotts Cricket Club. 11.
Panelists of ACB’s Home Improvement Seminar 12. ACB participates in inaugural Buy Local Street Fair
hosted by the Department of Culture
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd.

C. Davidson Charles
Chairman

Michael Roberts
Director
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Gordon Derrick
Director

Peter Blanchard
Director

Philip Harris
Director

Alincia Williams Grant
Director

Mavis George
Director

Daryll S. Matthew
Director

Reuben Deubry
Director

Craig Walter
Director
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ACB Mortgage & Trust Company Ltd.

Gordon Derrick
Chairman

C. Davidson Charles
Director

Philip Harris
Director
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Reuben Deubry
Director

Reginald Peterson
Director

Michael Roberts
Director

Heather Mannix
Director
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DIRECTORs’
REPORT
At ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK (ACB), compliance
with established Corporate Governance Principles
remains the focus of its BOARD OF DIRECTORS.
Members have each pledged their commitment
to perform their duties with integrity, honesty and
professionalism in fulfillment of their responsibilities
detailed in the Company’s Bylaws, Board Charter and
the general provisions of the relevant Banking and
Companies Legislation.
At ACB, a corporate governance structure is in place,
providing the necessary guidance in accordance
with recognized best practices and ensuring that
stakeholder confidence is maintained.

Mavis George, Lady Carlisle (until retirement on
January 27, 2011) and Daryll S. Matthew (from
election on January 27, 2011).
With respect to the Company’s wholly owned
subsidiary, ACB Mortgage & Trust Company
Ltd., the Chairman of the Board of Directors is
Gordon Derrick. The Trust Board is comprised
of five (5) ACB Directors together with two (2)
Directors chosen from the shareholders of ACB
in accordance with the relevant provisions of its
Articles. The remaining Members of the Board
are C. Davidson Charles, Reuben Deubry, Michael
Roberts, Philip Harris, Reginald Peterson and
Heather Mannix.

THE BOARD’S ROLE
BOARD MEETINGS
The Board’s primary responsibility is to provide
effective governance over the Group’s affairs for the
benefit of its shareholders and to balance the interests
of its respective stakeholders. Directors are expected
to exercise independent business judgment which
they reasonably believe to be in the best interests of
the Group.

For the year ended September 30, 2011, the ACB
Board of Directors hosted Twelve (12) monthly
Meetings and held six (6) Special Board Meetings.
The following is an analysis of Directors’
attendance:Name of Director

The Mission, Vision and Philosophy of the ACB Group
continue to provide the necessary foundation upon
which Members exercise their duties.

Percentage Attendance

C. Davidson Charles		

Reuben Deubry			100%
Peter Blanchard		

BOARD COMPOSITION
The Composition of the ACB Board of Directors
is determined in accordance with the Company’s
Bylaws (Clause 4). The Board is comprised of ten (10)
non- executive Directors, and is structured in such a
way as to ensure that the interests of shareholders
are represented fairly and objectively.
C. Davidson Charles is the elected Chairman of
the Board, assisted by his Vice-Chairmen, Reuben
Deubry, Peter Blanchard and Gordon Derrick. The
remaining Members of the Board are Michael Roberts,
Philip Harris, Craig J. Walter, Alincia Williams-Grant,
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100%
100%

Gordon Derrick			78%
Michael Roberts		

94%

Philip Harris			100%
Craig J. Walter			

100%

Alincia Williams-Grant		

89%

Mavis George			100%
Lady Carlisle 			

67%

(from October, 2010 to
retirement in
January, 2011)

Daryll S. Matthew 		

100%

(from election in
January, 2011)
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With respect to the Board of Directors for ACB
Mortgage & Trust Company Ltd., during fiscal
2011, the Board scheduled twelve (12) monthly
Board Meetings and held one (1) Special Board
Meeting. The following is an analysis of Directors’
attendance:Name of Director

Percentage Attendance

Gordon Derrick			100%
C. Davidson Charles		

69%

Reuben Deubry			100%
Michael Roberts		

77%

Philip Harris			100%
Heather Mannix			69%
Reginald Peterson		

100%

DIRECTORS’ TENURE

At this year’s Annual General Meeting, three (3)
Directors will retire upon rotation in accordance
with the provisions of the Company’s Bylaws:1.

Chairman C. Davidson Charles
(first elected – June 19, 2003);

2.

Director Gordon Derrick
(first elected - September 20, 2004);

3.

Director Daryll S. Matthew
(first elected – January 27, 2011).

Chairman C. Davidson Charles and Director
Gordon Derrick, being eligible, both offer
themselves for re- election.
The Directors are compliant with the provisions
of section 3 of the Companies (Amendment) Act,
2009 that provides for the disqualification from
reelection of Directors of Public Companies who
have served for ten (10) consecutive years, until
two (2) years have elapsed after they last served.

Clause 4.4 (a) of the Company’s Bylaws stipulates
as follows:COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
“At every Ordinary General Meeting one- third
of the Directors shall retire from office. The
Directors to retire shall be those who have
been longest in office since their last election.
As between Directors of equal seniority in
office, the Directors to retire shall be selected
from among them by lot. A retiring Director
shall be immediately, or at any future time, if
still qualified, be eligible for re-election.”

Board Committees have been established to
supplement the performance of the Board’s
duties and the exercise of its responsibilities. Each
Committee is governed by Terms of Reference,
approved by the Board of Directors, which clearly
defines their respective objectives.

GOVERNANCE AND EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE
Additionally, Clause 4.5 of the Company’s Bylaws
provides as follows:“Tenure: Unless his tenure is sooner
determined, a Director shall hold office for
a period not exceeding three years from the
date from which he is elected or appointed or
until the close of the third Annual Meeting of
the Shareholders next following but he shall
be eligible for re-election, if qualified.”

This Committee is responsible for assessing
and directing the Company’s overall approach
to corporate governance and supervises the
executive and operational management of the
Group, as delegated by the Board. During the year
the Committee held a total of five (5) Meetings.
Committee Members			Percentage
					Attendance
C. Davidson Charles-Chairman		

100%

Reuben Deubry				100%
Peter Blanchard			80%
Gordon Derrick				60%
Alincia Williams-Grant			80%

SOLID FOUNDATION
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AUDIT & AML/CFT OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE
The Audit & AML/CFT Oversight Committee,
receives and reviews reports from the Chief Internal
Auditor and Compliance Specialist, oversees the
quality, integrity and timeliness of the Company’s
financial reporting and makes recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of the External
Auditor, the Audit fees and related matter. During
the year the Committee held a total of seven (7)
Meetings.
Committee Members		

Percentage Attendance

Craig J. Walter-Chairman		

86%

general staffing and makes recommendations to the
Board on human resource issues. During the year the
Committee held a total of thirteen (13) Meetings.
Committee Members		

Percentage Attendance

Reuben Deubry-Chairman		

100%

Peter Blanchard			100%
Michael Roberts			100%
Alincia Williams-Grant			46%
Lady Carlisle				50%
(to January, 2011)
Daryll S. Matthew 			
(from February, 2011)

67%

Gordon Derrick 				100%
(to February, 2011)
Philip Harris				100%
Michael Roberts			71%
Mavis George				86%
Daryll S. Matthew			
(from March, 2011)

67%

CREDIT COMMITTEE
This Committee oversees the development and
implementation of sound credit policies and
procedures and considers credit matters in excess of
Management’s limits and where necessary, makes
recommendations for the further consideration
of the Board of Directors. During the year the
Committee held a total of thirty-five (35) Meetings.
Committee Members		

Percentage Attendance

Peter Blanchard-Chairman		

86%

MARKETING AND PUBLIC
RELATIONS COMMITTEE
This Committee reviews the marketing needs of the
Group in line with its goals and objectives, considers
marketing strategies and monitors their effectiveness
and ensures that the public relations needs of the
Group are being adequately met.  During the year the
Committee held a total of eight (8) Meetings.
Committee Members		

Percentage Attendance

Gordon Derrick-Chairman		

88%

Michael Roberts			100%
Philip Harris				88%
Mavis George				88%
Lady Carlisle				100%
(to January, 2011)
Daryll S. Matthew			
(from February, 2011)

83%

Reuben Deubry				83%
Michael Roberts 			

71%

Philip Harris				89%
Mavis George				86%
Lady Carlisle 				57%
(to January, 2011)

HUMAN RESOURCE &
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
The Investment Committee is responsible for
ensuring compliance with the Group’s investment
policy, considers potential investments beyond
Management’s limits and proposed investment
strategy and assesses relevant risk factors with a
view to further advising the Board. During the year
the Committee held one (1) Meeting.

The Human Resource & Compensation Committee
monitors the industrial relations of the Group,
reviews the senior level organizational structure and
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Committee Members		

Percentage Attendance

C. Davidson Charles-Chairman		

100%

Peter Blanchard			100%
Reuben Deubry				100%

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
Clause 4.3 of the Company’s Bylaws requires each
Director to be a holder of at least $1000 in value of
the share capital of the Company.

Mavis George				100%
Alincia Williams-Grant			100%
Craig J. Walter				100%

As at September 30, 2011, Directors of the Company
held/ controlled the following shareholdings in
Antigua Commercial Bank:-

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Directors			
Value of Shareholding
				$ in Share Capital

As part of the Board’s continued commitment
to the area of good corporate governance, the
Directors have been accredited through the
Director’s Education and Accreditation Programme
(DEAP) offered by the Eastern Caribbean Securities
Exchange (ECSE) in   collaboration with the
Chartered Secretaries of Canada.

C. Davidson Charles-Chairman		

Additionally, members of the Board participated in
Corporate Governance Seminars and Workshops
held throughout the subject financial period.

1,000

Peter Blanchard			31,893
Gordon Derrick				4,600
Reuben Deubry				105,000
Michael Roberts			1,000
Philip Harris				5,524
Alincia Williams-Grant			1,647
Craig J. Walter				1,000
Mavis George				1,188
Daryll S. Matthew			

5,669

SHAREHOLDING
The Securities Act, 2001, defines a Substantial Shareholder as a person who has an interest in the shares
of the Company, the stated value of which is equal to or more than 5% of the issued share capital of
the Company. In accordance with our disclosure obligations, it is noted that Shareholders, Sir Clare and
Lady Roberts own 6.88% of the Company as at September 30, 2011. Shown below is an analysis of the
Company’s shareholding as at September 30, 2011.
Size of Shareholding
No. of Shareholders per category		
Value of Shareholding $ in the
										Share Capital per category
1-1,000			4,807						819,165
1,001-2,000			303						428,930
2,001-5,000			222						711,271
5,001-10,000			77						534,803
10,001-25,000			52						787,158
25,001-100,000		29						1,179,886
100,001-250,000		2						206,100
250,001-400,000		1						332,687
Total				5,493						5,000,000

SOLID FOUNDATION
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SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS
Shareholder Relations is an important function of
the Legal/ Secretariat Department.  During the year,
the Department continued to utilize its email and
telephone registry to keep in direct contact with
the members of the Company.   Efforts to update
Shareholders’ files with relevant information also
continued.

DIVIDEND
The Directors recommend a payment of $0.30
for each unit share for the financial year ended
September 30, 2011.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers retire and
being eligible, offer themselves to be appointed the
Company’s External Auditors for the financial year
ended September 30, 2012. The Directors have
agreed to recommend to the Shareholders their
appointment.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RHODETTE PAIGE
LEGAL COUNSEL/ CORPORATE SECRETARY
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The first Board of Directors – 1955
Left to right (Standing): T.G. Josiah Joseph, K.A.V. Techeira, E.E. Harney, Dr.
L.R. Wynter, C.L. Murray; (Sitting) G.E. Maynard, L.H. Lockhart, E. Farara and
H.D.C. Moore.
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Our Head Office, located on Thames and St. Mary’s Streets, is one of the largest
modern buildings in the nation’s capital of St. John’s and depicts the pillar of
strength that Antigua Commercial Bank continues to be for our growing nation.
22
22
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Gladston S Joseph
General Manager
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Management
Discussion &
Analysis
EARNINGS PER SHARE

The other major aspects of the Group’s performance
are discussed below:

The consolidated results for the ACB Group
reflected earnings per share of $2.07 compared to
$3.83 the previous fiscal and reflects the significant
reduction in net profit. The decline highlights the
poor economic and financial conditions.
Real estate values have declined and many
businesses have experienced significant declines
in sales. Despite the difficult and gloomy economic
landscape, the Group remained profitable even after
it made significant provisions for loan losses. We are
confident that this action will improve the quality of
the Group’s assets and place it in a position where
it can swiftly improve its level of profitability.

INTEREST INCOME
Total interest income was virtually in line with the
result for the previous year increasing by $0.14
million or just over 0.2% compared to fiscal 2010.
Specifically, income from loans declined by $0.42
million or 0.8% but the increase in income from
investments of $0.56 million or 5.9% more than
offset the shortfall.
INTEREST
Region 1 INCOME

60.8

Region
1
EARNINGS PER
SHARE

60.5
60.35
2011

60.2
60.05
59.9

2010

2008

2009

2009

2010

Amount in millions

60.65

2011

2008
0

1

2

3

4

5

OTHER INCOME
Other income declined marginally compared to the
previous year by $0.13 million or 1.6% primarily due
to a decrease in foreign exchange earnings created
by the continued negative impact of the challenging
global economy on the island’s vital tourism sector,
a reduction in foreign transactions, and volatility in
exchange rates.
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produced savings in General and Administrative
expenses of $2.7 million or 12.4%.

OTHER INCOME

12

NET INCOME

3
0
2008

2009

2010

2011

INTEREST EXPENSE
This expense category increased by $1.480 million
or 5.8% largely as a result of the $25 million
increase in deposit liability, mainly Savings and Call
Deposits.   These deposits ensured that adequate
liquidity was maintained on a consistent basis in
a difficult financial and economic environment
where liquidity continued to pose challenges for
some financial institutions in the Eastern Caribbean
Currency Union. These excess funds allowed for
short term placements with other banks, which
generated interest income, which served to partially
offset the increase in deposit cost.

The Group realized a consolidated net income of
$7.8 million down from $14.4 million the previous
year. Given the high level of unemployment,
which inevitably affected many borrowers’ ability
to service their loans and the significant decline in
business activity caused by the severe downturn
in the economy, it was prudent that emphasis
be placed on the recognition of the diminution in
real estate values and the consequent necessity
to make appropriate provisioning or effect writedowns or write-offs on affected loans. The Group
has appropriately dealt with its impaired loans
and has therefore positioned itself to weather the
economic storm ahead.
NET INCOME

16
12
8
4

Region
1 EXPENSE
INTEREST

Amount in millions

6

Amount in millions
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24.5
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2009

2010

2011

Amount in millions

27

22
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OPERATING EXPENSES
Overall expenses increased to $31.9 million from
$26.6 million principally due to the increase in
loan loss provisioning and write-down. The overall
increase was dampened by good cost control that
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ASSETS

OTHER AREAS OF THE GROUP’S
PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE

The Group’s assets grew by $23 million or
2.75% despite the extended severe financial and
economic crisis with loan growth contributing the
major portion of the increase.
ASSET GROWTH
830

INTEREST MIX

DEPOSITS WITH OTHER BANKS
LOANS AND ADVANCES

ASSET GROWTH

850

870

17%

2008
2009
2010
2011
Amount in millions

83%

LOANS AND ADVANCES
The demand for loans remained flat and this
was hardly surprising considering the difficult
economic and financial challenges. Nevertheless,
the Group’s loans portfolio grew by $16 million or
2.8% funded by our very strong liquidity.

DEPOSIT GROWTH
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GLADSTON S. JOSEPH
GENERAL MANAGER
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Peter N. Ashe
Manager- ACB Mortgage &
Trust Company Ltd
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MANAGEMENT TEAM

Gladston S. Joseph
General Manager

Austen Gittens
Chief Internal Auditor
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Denise Armstrong
Assistant General
Manager
(Credit & Control)

Jacqueline Hewlett
Compliance Specialist

Peter N. Ashe
Rhodette F.C. Paige
Manager (ACB Mortgage &
Legal Counsel/
Trust Company Ltd)
Corporate Secretary

Geoffrey Simmons
Manager (Retail Lending
& Recoveries)

M. Arlene R. Edwards
Manager (Private &
Corporate Banking)
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Joyanne Byers
Cornelius
Finance & Accounting
Executive

Michael Robertson
IT Manager

Jennifer Hector
Customer Service
Officer
SOLID FOUNDATION

Jonathan Lindsay
Manager (Customer
Relations & Service
Quality)

Irvine Lee
Manager (Corporate
Operations)

Sidlow Frank
Network Administrator
LAN Analyst

Austin Josiah
HR Executive

Maria Scotland
Audit Officer

Helen J. Looby
Operations and
Accounting Officer

Shawn Nicholas
Marketing and PR
Executive

Sharon E. Nathaniel
Corporate Account
Executive

Eurel Hodge
Training and
Recruitment Officer
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Whether you’re cashing a cheque or purchasing currency just before a
flight, our Airport Agency is there to offer efficient and professional service.
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CONSOLIDATED
Antigua Commercial Bank
Limited
Balance
sheet

DRAFT

Consolidated Balance Sheet

As
September
30, 2011
As of
of September
30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2011
$

2010
$

38,985,419
81,745,432
40,345,052
4,339,020
581,803,040
4,852,580
72,661,396
39,574,160
7,079,946

40,727,183
89,491,261
17,382,971
4,262,944
565,808,312
8,724,424
74,453,867
40,890,648
6,425,129

871,386,045

848,166,739

Income tax payable (note 17)
Deposits due to customers (note 14)
Other liabilities and accrued expenses (note 15)
Due under repurchase agreements (note 19)
Long-term debenture liabilities (note 20)
Deferred tax liability (note 17)

7,153,816
676,028,186
7,927,792
1,572,073
29,595,000
6,752,045

6,743,333
651,382,746
7,767,069
1,568,670
33,205,000
8,224,123

Total liabilities

729,028,912

708,890,941

Assets

Cash and balances with the Central Bank (note 5)
Due from other banks (note 6)
Treasury bills (note 7)
Statutory deposit (note 8)
Loans and advances (note 9)
Other assets (note 10)
Investment securities (note 11)
Property, plant and equipment (note 12)
Pension asset (note 13)

Liabilities

DRAFT

DRAFTF:\FS 2011\Antigua Commercial Bank
Consolidated.doc November 2, 2012 11:08 AM

Equity

5,000,000
10,000,000
73,715,120
53,642,013

5,000,000
10,000,000
78,696,060
45,579,738

Total equity

142,357,133

139,275,798

Total liabilities and equity

871,386,045

848,166,739

Share capital (note 21)
Statutory reserve (note 22)
Other reserves (note 23)
Retained earnings

The notes
noteson
onpages
pages401 to 102
63 are
of these
thesefinancial
financialstatements.
statements.
The
are an
an integral
integral part of

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on [
__________________________________ Chairman

]
______________________________ Director
______________________________ Director
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CONSOLIDATED statement of
DRAFT
comprehensive
income
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited
AsConsolidated
of September
30, 2011 Income
Statement of Comprehensive
For the year ended September 30, 2011

(expressed
Eastern
Caribbean
dollars)
(expressed in in
Eastern
Caribbean
dollars)

2011
$

2010
$

50,319,000
9,971,051

50,735,551
9,413,449

60,290,051

60,149,000

12,749,339
12,346,487
2,023,190

12,914,445
10,843,713
1,880,777

27,119,016

25,638,935

33,171,035

34,510,065

8,245,009

8,379,587

Total income

41,416,044

42,889,652

Operating expenses
General and administrative expenses (note 25)
Provision for (recovery of) loan impairment (note 9)
Depreciation (note 12)
Directors’ fees and expenses
Provision for impairment of investment securities (note 11)

19,453,537
8,271,247
2,569,224
807,942
803,439

22,207,009
(3,930,924)
2,607,934
795,629
4,970,565

31,905,389

26,650,213

Operating income for the year

9,510,655

16,239,439

Taxation (note 17)
Current tax expense
Prior year under (over) accrual
Deferred tax (credit) charge

2,265,710
367,585
(909,130)

3,478,706
(2,381,292)
714,751

1,724,165

1,812,165

7,786,490

14,427,274

Interest income
Income from loans and advances
Income from deposits with other banks and investments

Interest expense
Savings accounts
Time deposits and current accounts
Debenture stock

Net interest income
Other operating income (note 24)

Net income for the year
Earnings per share (note 26)
Other comprehensive income
Decline in market value of investment securities, net of taxes
Total comprehensive income for the year

2.07

3.83

(1,718,097)

(957,100)

6,068,393

13,470,174

arean
anintegral
integral part of these
The notes
notes on
on pages
pages40
1 to 102
63 are
these financial
financialstatements
statements.

November 2, 2012 11:08 AM
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CONSOLIDATED statement
of
cash flows
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited
As of September 30, 2011

DRAFT

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended September 30, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2011
$

2010
$

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating income for the year
Items not affecting cash
Provision for impairment of investment securities
Depreciation
Provision for loan loss impairment
Increase in pension asset
Interest income
Interest expense

9,510,655

16,239,439

803,439
2,569,224
8,271,247
(654,817)
(60,290,051)
27,119,016

4,970,565
2,607,934
(4,879,533)
(469,574)
(60,149,000)
25,638,935

Cash flows used in operating activities before changes in operating assets
and liabilities

(12,671,287)

(16,041,234)

Decrease/(Increase) in other receivables and other assets
Increase in loans and advances
Increase in customer deposits
Increase/(Decrease) in other liabilities and accrued liabilities

2,872,436
(22,189,203)
23,771,525
160,723

(2,858,421)
(12,697,659)
23,205,872
(1,497,508)

(8,055,806)

(9,888,950)

58,082,333
(26,245,101)
(2,222,812)

61,075,433
(24,668,312)
–

Net cash flows from operating activities

21,558,614

26,518,171

Cash flows from investing activities
Redemption of investment securities
Purchase of property, plant & equipment
Purchase of investment securities

2,436,612
(1,252,736)
(3,748,750)

3,758,779
(3,109,864)
(401,200)

Net cash flows from investing activities

(2,564,874)

Cash flows financing activities
Increase in long-term liabilities
Issuance (redemption) of repurchase agreements
Dividends paid

(3,610,000)
3,403
(3,000,000)

4,095,000
(210,593)
(1,500,000)

Net cash flows (used in) from financing activities

(6,606,597)

2,384,407

Cash flows used in operating activities before interest and taxes
Interest received
Interest paid
Tax paid

36

247,715
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CONSOLIDATED statement
of
cash
Antigua
Commercialflows...continued
Bank Limited

DRAFT

AsConsolidated
of September
30,Flows
2011
Statement of Cash
…continued
For the year ended September 30, 2011

(expressed in in
Eastern
Caribbean
dollars)
(expressed
Eastern
Caribbean
dollars)

2011
$

2010
$

Net increase in cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

12,387,143
115,937,333

29,150,293
86,787,040

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year (note 27)

128,324,476

115,937,333

arean
an integral
integral part of these
The notes
notes on
onpages
pages40
1 to 102
63 are
these financial
financialstatements
statements.
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(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the year ended September 30, 2011

–
–

–
–

Total comprehensive income

Reserve for loan loss (note 23)

5,000,000

10,000,000

–

F:\FS 2011\Antigua Commercial Bank Consolidated.doc November 2, 2012 11:08 AM

Balance, September 30, 2010

Dividends paid

–

–

–

Increase in pension reserve

Transaction with owners

–

–

of $413,282)

Increase in revaluation of property, plant and equipment (net of tax

–

–

–

–

$

$
10,000,000

reserve

capital

5,000,000

Statutory

Share

$1,042,255)

Appreciation in market value of investment securities (net of tax of

Other comprehensive income

Net income for the year

Balance, September 30, 2009

38
26,723,105

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

26,723,105

$

reserve

General

7,461,949

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

18,208,550

–

–

–

1,647,811

–

–

–

9,696,853

–

–

(39,822)

–

–

–

–

10,180,474

–

–

–

–

957,100

(957,100)

–

11,137,574

6,425,129

–

469,574

–

–

–

–

–

5,955,555

45,579,738

(1,500,000)

(469,574)

53,096

(1,647,811)

14,427,274

–

14,427,274

34,716,753

$

$

$
9,736,675

$

$

$

property

loan loss

reserve

16,560,739

earnings

reserve

for sale
securities

Reserve -

Reserve for

Capital

7,461,949

Retained

Pension

available

Revaluation

Reserve -

Revaluation

139,275,798

(1,500,000)

–

13,274

–

13,470,174

(957,100)

14,427,274

127,292,350

$

Total

Antigua Commercial Bank LTD.

CONSOLIDATED statement of
changeS in equity

As of September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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SOLID FOUNDATION
–

–

–

–

Total comprehensive income

Reserve for loan loss (note 23)

5,000,000

10,000,000

–

The
notes
on on
pages
40 to
10263are
part
of of
these
financial
statements
The
notes
pages
1 to
areananintegral
integral
part
these
financial
statements.

Balance, September 30, 2011

Dividends paid

–

–

–

Increase in pension reserve

Transactions with owners

–

–

of $13,274)

Release of revaluation on property, plant and equipment (net of tax

–

–

–

–

$

$
10,000,000

reserve

capital

5,000,000

Statutory

Share

$312,465)

Appreciation in market value of investment securities (net of tax of

Other comprehensive income

Net income for the year

Balance, September 30, 2010

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the year ended September 30, 2011

26,723,105

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

26,723,105

$

reserve

General

7,461,949

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

14,329,716

–

–

–

(3,878,834)

–

–

–

9,658,027

–

–

(38,826)

–

–

–

–

8,462,377

–

–

–

–

(1,718,097)

(1,718,097)

–

10,180,474

7,079,946

–

654,817

–

–

–

–

–

6,425,129

53,642,013

(3,000,000)

(654,817)

51,768

3,878,834

7,786,490

–

7,786,490

45,579,738

$

$

$
9,696,853

$

$

$

property

loan loss

reserve

18,208,550

earnings

reserve

for sale
securities

Reserve -

Reserve for

Capital

7,461,949

Retained

Pension

available

Revaluation

Reserve -

Revaluation

142,357,133

(3,000,000)

–

12,942

–

6,068,393

(1,718,097)

7,786,490

139,275,798

$

Total

Antigua Commercial Bank LTD.

CONSOLIDATED statement of
changeS in equity...continued

As of September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AsAntigua
of September
2011
Commercial30,
Bank
Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

DRAFT

September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
1

Incorporation and principal activity
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited (“the Bank”) is a limited liability company incorporated on 19th October
1955 under caption 358 of the laws of Antigua and Barbuda. The Bank is regulated by the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank (‘the ECCB’) in accordance with the Banking Act No. 14 of 2005 and the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank Act No. 10 of 1983. The Bank and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) offer a complete range of
commercial banking and related services.
The Bank’s registered office is located at St. Mary’s and Thames Streets, St. John’s, Antigua.

2

Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.
a)

Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and IFRIC interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by
the revaluation of property and available-for-sale investment securities which have been measured at fair
value.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a
significant impact of the financial statements in the period the assumptions are changed. Management
believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate and the Group's financial statements therefore
present the financial position and results fairly. The areas involving a high degree of judgement or
complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are
disclosed in note 4.
New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group
There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the financial period beginning on or after
October 1, 2010 that would be expected to have a material impact on the Group.
New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for the financial period
beginning on October 1, 2010 and not early adopted
�

IAS 24 (revised), ‘Related party disclosures’, issued in November 2009. It supersedes IAS 24,
‘Related party disclosures’, issued in 2003. IAS 24 (revised) is mandatory for periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2011. Earlier application, in whole or in part, is permitted. The revised standard
clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party and removes the requirement for governmentrelated entities to disclose details of all transactions with the government and other governmentrelated entities. The Bank will apply the revised standard from October 1, 2011. It is not possible at
this stage to disclose the impact, if any, of the revised standard on the related party disclosures.

(1)
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September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies … continued
a)

Basis of preparation … continued
New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for the financial period
beginning on October 1, 2010 and not early adopted … continued
�

IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of
financial assets and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in October 2010. It replaces the parts of
IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires
financial assets to be classified into two measurement categories: those measured at fair value and
those measured at amortised cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. The classification
depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual
cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the
IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for
financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in
other comprehensive income rather than the income statement, unless this creates an accounting
mismatch. The Bank is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact and intends to adopt IFRS 9 no later than
the accounting period beginning on or after January 1, 2015.

�

IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing
a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements for use across IFRSs. The requirements, which are largely aligned between IFRSs and
US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair value accounting but provide guidance on how it should be
applied where its use is already required or permitted by other standards within IFRSs or US GAAP.
The Bank is yet to assess IFRS13’s full impact and intends to adopt IFRS 13 no later than the
accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2012.

�

IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’ was amended in June 2011. The impact on the Bank will be as follows:
to eliminate the corridor approach and recognise all actuarial gains and losses in OCI as they occur;
to immediately recognise all past service costs; and to replace interest cost and expected return on
plan assets with a net interest amount that is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net
defined benefit liability (asset). The Bank is yet to assess the full impact of the amendments.

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have
a material impact on the Bank.
Early adoption of standards
The Bank did not early adopt any new or amended standards in 2011.

(2)
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September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies … continued
b)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Bank and its subsidiaries, ACB
Mortgage and Trust Company Limited (“the Company”) and ACB Investment Co. Limited. Subsidiaries
are all entities over which the Bank has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Bank controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Bank. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies are eliminated.

c)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, non-mandatory deposits with the ECCB and other
banks, treasury bills and other eligible bills, short-term funds and investments with original maturities of
less than or equal to ninety days.

d)

Financial assets and liabilities
In accordance with IAS 39, all financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet and
measured in accordance with their assigned category.
Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following IAS 39 categories: loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. Management determines the classification of its financial instruments at
initial recognition.
(i)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market other than:
(a) those that the Group upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or
(b) those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than
because of credit deterioration.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration to
originate or purchase the loan including any transaction costs – and measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period
of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange
rates or equity prices or that are not classified as loans and receivables.

(3)
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2

Significant accounting policies … continued
d)

Financial assets and liabilities ... continued
(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets ... continued
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets classified as available-for-sale are recognised on
trade-date (the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset). Investments are
initially recognised at fair value plus transactions costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or where the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership.
Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. However, investments in
equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market, and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured, are carried at cost less impairment, if any. Loans and receivables are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses arising from changes in
the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised directly in equity, until the financial
asset is de-recognised or impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
equity is recognised in profit or loss. However, interest calculated using the effective interest method
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity
instruments are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the entity’s right to
receive payment is established.
The fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based on current bid prices. If there is no
active market for a financial asset, the Group establishes fair value using valuation techniques or at
cost less impairment if the fair value cannot be reliably measured and the asset is not impaired.
Financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when
extinguished. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are deposits from banks or customers.

(4)

SOLID FOUNDATION

43

Antigua Commercial Bank LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AsAntigua
of September
2011
Commercial30,
Bank
Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

DRAFT

September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies … continued
e)

Impairment of financial assets
(i) Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’)
and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about the
following loss events:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
the Group granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the
decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including:
– adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group; or
– national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, and then collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for
an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues
to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of
the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined
under the contract.
As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair
value using an observable market price.
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial
asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the
collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.
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Significant accounting policies … continued
e)

Impairment of financial assets … continued
(i) Assets carried at amortised cost … continued
For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of
similar credit risk characteristics according to asset type and past due status. These characteristics are
relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the
debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being
evaluated.
The evaluation of the impairment is based on the historical loss experience associated with each
group of assets. The historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to
reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss
experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical data that do not exist
currently. In addition, a review of losses reported after the financial year end for which there was
evidence of impairment during the financial year are considered in the measurement of impairment.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such
loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the
loss has been determined.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by
adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income in impairment charge for credit losses.
Statutory and other regulatory loan loss reserve requirements that exceed these amounts are dealt
with in reserves as an appropriation of retained earnings.
(ii) Assets classified as available-for-sale
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as
available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is
considered in determining whether the assets are impaired. Where an available-for-sale security is
unquoted, objective evidence of impairment is identified if there are significant financial difficulties
of the issuer and if there is a prolonged decline in the reported share value of the issuer when
compared to the carrying value of the security in the Group’s financial statements. If any such
evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss - is removed from equity and recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income. Impairment losses recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income on equity instruments are not reversed through income. If, in a subsequent
period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or
loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the profit or loss.

(6)

SOLID FOUNDATION

45

Antigua Commercial Bank LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AsAntigua
of September
2011
Commercial30,
Bank
Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies … continued
f)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are not
recognised for future operational losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

g)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost or valuation, less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method at rates estimated to write down the cost or valuation
of such assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Buildings
ATM buildings and building improvements
Car park
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment
Motor vehicles
Computer hardware
Computer software

40 years
10 years
10 years
6 2/3 years
10 years
5 years
5 years
5 years

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Repairs and renewals are charged to the
statement of comprehensive income when the expenditure is incurred.
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet
date.
Property, plant and equipment are periodically reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When the carrying amount of an asset is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their
carrying amount and are taken into account in determining operating profit.
Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are carried out every 3 years based on independent
valuations.

(7)

46

SOLID FOUNDATION

Antigua Commercial Bank LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Commercial30,
Bank
Limited
AsAntigua
of September
2011
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

DRAFT

September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies … continued
h)

Taxation
Current income tax
Income tax payable is calculated on the basis of the applicable tax law in Antigua and Barbuda and is
recognised as an expense (income) for the period except to the extent that current tax relates to items that
are charged or credited directly to equity. In these circumstances, current tax is charged or credited to
equity.
The Company does not offset income tax liabilities and current income tax assets.
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the date of the balance sheet and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of property, plant and equipment, loan loss
provision, and the revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are recognised
when it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which these temporary differences
can be utilised.
The tax effects of carry-forwards of unused losses or unused tax credits are recognised as an asset when it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these losses can be utilised. Deferred
tax related to fair value re-measurement of available-for-sale investments which are recognised in equity,
is also recognised in the statement of changes in equity together with the deferred gain or loss.

i)

Dividends on ordinary shares and dividend income
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by
shareholders. Dividends for the year which are approved after the balance sheet date are noted as a
subsequent event (note 16).
Dividend income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the entity’s right to
receive payment is established.
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Significant accounting policies … continued
j)

Interest income and expense and revenue recognition
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised using the
effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group
estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example,
prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses.
The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. Once a financial asset or
a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income
is recognised using the rate of interest to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss.

k)

Fees and commissions income and revenue recognition
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on the accrual basis when the service has been provided.
Loan origination fees are deferred (together with related direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to
the effective yield on the loan.
Commission and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third
party, such as the acquisition of shares or other securities are recognised on completion of the underlying
transaction.

l)

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Group operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean dollars, which is the Group’s functional and presentation
currency.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions that are denominated, or that require settlement, in a foreign currency are
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Eastern Caribbean
dollars at the closing rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Foreign currency transactions
are translated at the rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Foreign exchange gains or losses arising
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
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Significant accounting policies … continued
m) Employee benefits
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will
receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and
compensation. The pension benefit is based on the final salary of the employee.
An asset or liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets,
together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The defined
benefit obligation is calculated by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. Under
this method, the cost of providing pensions is charged to the statement of comprehensive income so as to
spread the regular cost over the service lives of employees in accordance with the advice of qualified
actuaries who carry out a full valuation of the plan every three years.
The pension obligation is measured as the present value of the discounted estimated future cash outflows
using interest rates of long-term government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid, and which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
charged or credited to income in the period in which they arise, over the employees’ expected average
remaining working lives, where these amounts represent an excess over the 10% corridor.
Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income, unless the
changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of
time (the vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period.
The pension plan is funded by payments from employees and the Group, taking into account the
recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.
n)

Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. All of the Group’s leases at September 30, 2011 were
classified as operating leases.

o)

Repurchase agreements
Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements are included in loans and receivables. These securities
are not secured by collateral. The counterparty liability is included in due under repurchase agreements
and is recorded at fair value. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and
accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective interest method.

p)

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Significant accounting policies … continued
q)

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

r)

Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

s)

Share capital
Ordinary shares and preference shares that do not exhibit any debt characteristics are classified as equity.
Mandatorily redeemable preference shares are classified as liabilities. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

3

Financial risk management
Strategy in using financial instruments
By its nature, the Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk
is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business.
The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk
limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date
information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes
in markets, products and emerging best practice.
Risk management is carried out by the Group’s management under policies approved by the Board of
Directors. Management identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks. The Board provides guidance for
overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk and credit risk. The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and
other operational risk. Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1 Credit risk
The Group takes on exposure to credit risk which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss to the
Group by failing to discharge an obligation. Credit risk is the most important risk for the Group’s operations.
The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers and to geographical and industry segments. Such risks are
monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review. Limits on the level of credit
risk by product, industry sector and by country are approved by the Board of Directors. There is also credit risk
in off balance sheet financial instruments, such as loan commitments. Cash deposits with other banks and shortterm investments are placed with reputable regional and international financial institutions and Governments.
Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers
to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where appropriate.
Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining collateral and corporate and personal guarantees.
3.1.1 Credit risk management
(a) Credit related commitments
The Group assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using internal rating tools tailored to
the various categories of the counterparty. They have been developed based on the Eastern Caribbean Central
Bank guidelines. Customers of the Group are segmented into five rating classes. The Group’s rating scale,
which is shown below, reflects the range of default probabilities defined for each rating class. This means that,
in principle, exposures migrate between classes as the assessment of their probability of default changes. The
ratings tool is reviewed and upgraded as necessary.
Bank’s rating
1
2
3
4
5

Description of the grade
Pass
Special mention
Sub-standard
Doubtful
Loss

(b)
Debt securities and other bills
The Group’s portfolio of debt securities and other bills consists of the Government of Antigua and Barbuda,
Government of St. Kitts and Nevis and Government of Saint Lucia ninety-one day treasury bills, and other debt
obligations by regional banking and non-banking financial institutions, all of which are unrated. The Group
assesses the risk of default on these obligations by regularly monitoring the performance of the Governments
through published government data, information received directly from government departments and
information published by international agencies such as the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World
Bank. The risk of default on regional corporate debt is assessed by continuous monitoring of the performance
of these companies through published financial information, and other data gleaned from various sources.
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in
particular to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries.
The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and industry segments.
Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where
appropriate.
The following specific control and mitigation measures are also utilised:
(a) Collateral
The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these
is the taking of security for funds advanced, which is common practice. The Group implements
guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal
collateral types for loans and advances are:
�
�
�

Mortgages over residential properties.
Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable.
Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured; revolving individual credit
facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, in order to minimise the credit loss the Group will seek
additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are identified for the relevant
individual loans and advances.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances depends on the nature of the
instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.
(b) Financial covenants (for credit related commitments and loan books)
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required.
Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial
letters of credit – which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorising a third
party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions – are
collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than
a direct loan.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of
loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the
Group is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments, as most
commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards (often
referred to as financial covenants).
The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments
generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in
particular to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries.
The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and industry segments.
Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where
appropriate.
The following specific control and mitigation measures are also utilised:
(a) Collateral
The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these
is the taking of security for funds advanced, which is common practice. The Group implements
guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal
collateral types for loans and advances are:
�
�
�

Mortgages over residential properties.
Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable.
Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured; revolving individual credit
facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, in order to minimise the credit loss the Group will seek
additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are identified for the relevant
individual loans and advances.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances depends on the nature of the
instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.
(b) Financial covenants (for credit related commitments and loan books)
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required.
Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial
letters of credit – which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorising a third
party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions – are
collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than
a direct loan.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of
loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the
Group is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments, as most
commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards (often
referred to as financial covenants).
The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments
generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.3 Impairment and provisioning policies
The internal rating systems described in Note 3.1.1 focus more on credit quality mapping from the inception
of the lending and investment activities. In contrast, impairment provisions are recognised for financial
reporting purposes only for losses that have been incurred at the balance sheet date based on the objective
evidence of impairment.
The impairment provision shown in the balance sheet at year end is derived from each of the five rating
grades. However, the majority of the impairment provision comes from the doubtful and loss grades. The
table below shows the percentage of the Group’s on- and off- balance sheet items relating to loans and
advances and the associated impairment provision for each of the Group’s internal rating categories:
2011

2010

Group's rating

Credit risk
exposure
(%)

Impairment
allowance
(%)

Credit risk
exposure
(%)

Impairment
allowance
(%)

Pass
Special mention
Sub standard
Doubtful
Loss

40
40
15
3
2

8
8
28
26
30

37
44
16
1
2

6
8
33
19
34

100

100

100

100

Total

The mortgage subsidiary company has had, on average, 81% of its loan portfolio at a pass rating for the
financial year ended September 30, 2011 (2010 – 72%).
The internal rating tool assists management to determine whether objective evidence of impairment exists
under IAS 39, based on the following criteria set out by the Group:
�
�
�
�
�
�

Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest
Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (eg. Equity ratio, net income percentage of sales)
Breach of loan covenants or conditions
Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings
Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position
Deterioration in the value of collateral

The Group’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds at
least annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require. Impairment allowances on
individually assessed accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss at the balance sheet date
on a case by case basis, and are applied to all individually significant accounts. The assessment normally
encompasses collateral held (including re-confirmation of its enforceability) and the anticipated receipts for
that individual account.
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements:
Maximum exposure

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances
Loans and advances to individuals:
Overdrafts
Term loans
Mortgages
Loans and advances to corporate entities
Investment securities
Loans and receivables – debt securities
Other assets

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet assets
Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit related obligations

At September 30

2011
$

2010
$

81,745,432
40,345,052

89,491,261
17,382,971

1,998,084
51,132,141
174,392,471

2,693,149
51,973,074
166,824,936

354,280,344

344,317,153

47,099,275
4,258,430

50,372,394
7,971,943

755,251,229

731,026,881

7,501,457
20,773,610

7,501,457
27,075,265

28,275,067

34,576,722

783,526,296

765,603,603

The above table represents a worse-case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at September 30, 2011
and 2010, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance
sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the consolidated
balance sheet.
As shown above, 74% of the total maximum exposure is derived from loans and advances to customers (2010:
74%); 7% represents investments in debt securities (2010: 7%).
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements … continued
Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the
Bank resulting from both its loan and advances portfolio and debt securities based on the following:
•

80% of the loans and advances portfolio is categorised in the top two grades of the internal rating system
(2010: 81%);

•

54% of loans and advances portfolio are considered to be neither past due nor impaired (2010: 52%); and

•

The Group introduced a more stringent selection process for granting loans and advances.

3.1.5 Loans and advances
Loans and advances are summarised as follows:
2011
Loans and
advances to
customers
$

2010
Loans and
advances to
customers
$

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Individually impaired

323,090,057
232,222,824
38,564,854

294,896,640
249,958,954
26,708,475

Gross

593,877,735

571,564,069

Less: allowance for impairment
Net
Individually impaired
Portfolio allowance

(26,558,485)

(18,432,816)

567,319,250

553,131,253

22,328,590
4,229,895

16,245,174
2,187,642

26,558,485

18,432,816

The total impairment provision for loans and advances is $26,558,485 (2010: $18,432,816) of which
$22,316,626 (2010: $16,245,174) represents the individually impaired loans and the remaining amount of
$4,229,895 (2010: $2,187,642) represents the portfolio allowance. Further information about the impairment
allowance for loans and advances to banks and to customers is provided in note 9.

(16)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.5 Loans and advances … continued
(a) Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be
assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Group.
Loans and advances to customers
Individual (retail customers)
Overdrafts
$

Term
Loans
$

Mortgages
$

Corporate entities
Large
Total loans
corporate
and advances
customers
SMEs to customers
$
$
$

September 30, 2011
Grades
Standard monitoring
Special monitoring

23,475,605
26,403,417

14,519,452 143,605,124
645,484
47,967

80,420,020
23,265,580

8,643,358 270,663,559
2,064,050 52,426,498

49,879,022

15,164,936 143,653,091

103,685,600

10,707,408 323,090,057

September 30, 2010
Grades
Standard monitoring
Special monitoring

42,696,113
489,400

33,535,661 119,863,913
248,917
–

76,847,786
8,619,050

5,378,817
7,216,983

278,322,290
16,574,350

43,185,513

33,784,578 119,863,913

85,466,836

12,595,800

294,896,640

(17)
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17,515,578

8,025,612
4,323,881
2,501,327
2,664,758

Term loans
$

41,069,594

5,652,538
11,871,168
18,827,797
4,718,091

Mortgages
$

–
–
–
4,362,607

4,362,607

Past due up to 30 days
Past due 31 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days
Past due 90 days and over

Total

Overdrafts
$

19,925,481

8,226,309
3,583,967
3,296,624
4,818,581

Term loans
$

53,519,009

5,109,734
22,826,513
24,024,180
1,558,582

Mortgages
$

Individual (retail customers)

6,592,608

Total

As of September 30, 2010:

–
–
–
6,592,608

Overdrafts
$

Individual (retail customers)

Past due up to 30 days
Past due 31 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days
Past due 90 days and over

As of September 30, 2011:

13,958,968

1,891,607
2,027,738
5,246,896
4,792,727

150,506,028

28,413,427
15,290,946
83,887,138
22,914,517

21,645,829

3,189,509
1,710,294
14,104,790
2,641,236

Corporate entities
Large
corporate
customers
SMEs
$
$

153,086,076

97,828,739
7,674,573
27,593,847
19,988,917

Corporate entities
Large
corporate
customers
SMEs
$
$

249,958,954

44,938,979
43,411,720
125,312,732
36,295,523

Total
$

232,222,824

113,398,496
25,897,360
54,169,867
38,757,101

Total
$

(18)

Late processing and other administrative delays on the side of the borrower can lead to a financial asset being past due but not impaired. Therefore, loans and
advances less than 90 days past due are not usually considered impaired, unless other information is available to indicate the contrary. The gross amounts of
loans and advances by class to customers that were past due but not impaired were as follows:

(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired
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September 30, 2010
Individually impaired

September 30, 2011
Individually impaired

5,277,573

8,946,823

Overdrafts
$

1,294,260

1,451,173

–

2,177,413

Credit
Card Term loans
$
$

Individual (retail customers)

2,644,795

111,506

Mortgages
$

12,257,834

18,661,727

Large
Corporate
customers
$

5,234,013

7,216,212

SMEs
$

Corporate entities

26,708,475

38,564,854

Total
$

(19)

The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by class, along with the fair value of related collateral held by the Bank as
security, are as follows:

The individually impaired loans and advances to customers before taking into consideration the cash flows from collateral held is $38,564,854 (2010:
$26,708,475).

Upon initial recognition of loans and advances, the fair value of collateral is based on valuation techniques commonly used for the corresponding assets. In
subsequent periods, the fair value is assessed by reference to market price or indices of similar assets.

(c) Loans and advances individually impaired
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.5 Loans and advances … continued
(d) Loans and advances renegotiated
Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, approved external management plans,
modification and deferral of payments. Following restructuring, a previously overdue account is reset to a
normal status and managed together with other similar accounts. Restructuring policies and practices are
based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgement of management, indicate that payment will most
likely continue. These policies are kept under continuous review.

Renegotiated loans and advances to individuals
Renegotiated loans to corporations

2011
$

2010
$

3,219,546
3,352,052

3,662,796
4,724,074

6,571,598

8,386,870

3.1.6 Debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills
There is no formal rating of the credit quality of bonds, treasury bills and equity investments. A number of
qualitative and quantitative factors are considered in assessing the risk associated with each investment.
However, there is no hierarchy of ranking. There are no external ratings of securities at the year end. The
tables below presents an analysis of debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills at September 30,
2011 and 2010:
Asset
pledged as
collateral
Treasury
bills
$

Availablefor-sale
$

Loans and
receivables
$

Total
$

Investment
securities
$

At September 30, 2011
40,345,052
Unrated

25,562,121

47,099,275

113,006,448

4,000,000

50,372,394

91,836,839

4,000,000

At September 30, 2010
17,382,971
Unrated

24,081,474

3.1.7 Repossessed collateral
The Group took no possession of collateral during the years ended September 30, 2011 and 2010.
Repossessed properties are sold as soon as practicable, with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding
indebtedness. Repossessed property, if any, is classified in the balance sheet within other assets.

(20)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.8. Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure
(a) Geographical concentration of assets and off balance sheet items
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is concentrated as detailed below. Antigua and Barbuda is the home
country of the Group where the predominant activity is commercial banking services.
As a major indigenous bank in Antigua and Barbuda, the Group accounts for a significant share of credit
exposure to many sectors of the economy. However, credit risk is spread over a diversity of personal and
commercial customers.
The following table analyses the Group’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts as categorised by
geographical region.
Antigua and
Barbuda
$
2011
Credit risk exposures
relating to on-balance
sheet assets:
Cash and statutory
balances
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and receivables
– Debt securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

Credit exposures relating
to off balance sheet
assets:
Loan commitments and
other credit related
facilities
As at September 30,
2011

Other
Caribbean
$

NonCaribbean
$

Total
$

63,250,328
7,535,961

1,186,218
32,809,091

17,308,886
–

81,745,432
40,345,052

44,528,138
574,591,659
4,258,746

2,300,957
3,148,350
–

270,180
4,063,031
–

47,099,275
581,803,040
4,258,746

694,164,832

39,444,616

21,642,097

755,251,545

28,275,067

–

–

28,275,067

722,439,899

39,444,616

21,642,097

783,526,612

(21)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.1.8. Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure…continued
(a) Geographical concentration of assets and off balance sheet items … continued

2010
Credit risk exposures
relating to on-balance
sheet assets:
Cash and statutory
balances
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and receivables
– Debt securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

Credit exposures relating
to off balance sheet
assets:
Loan commitments and
other credit related
facilities
As at September 30,
2010

Antigua and
Barbuda
$

Other
Caribbean
$

NonCaribbean
$

Total

44,156,536
80,246,963
7,471,562

26,704
469,452
9,911,409

806,887
8,774,846
–

44,990,127
89,491,261
17,382,971

44,989,098
557,687,596
7,971,943

5,113,116
3,864,453
–

270,180
4,256,263
–

50,372,394
565,808,312
7,971,943

742,523,698

19,385,134

14,108,176

776,017,008

34,576,722

–

–

34,576,722

777,100,420

19,385,134

14,108,176

810,593,730

$

(22)
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As at September 30, 2011

Investment securities:
- Debt securities
- Other assets

Loans to corporate entities:
- Large corporate customers

Loans and advances to customers:
Loans to individuals:
- Overdrafts
- Term loans
- Mortgages

Due from other banks
Treasury bills

–
–
7,554

–
–
78,509

7,554

–

–
34

–

–
–

78,475
–

–

Tourism
$’000

Financial
institutions
$’000

48,534

–
–

48,534

–

–

–
–

Real
estate
$’000

86,217

–
–

86,217

–

–

–
–

Wholesale
and retail
trade
$’000

142,891

–
–

110,105

14,916

–

–
17,870

Public
sector
$’000

170,259

37,797
4,205

101,836

26,421

–

–
–

Other
industries
$’000

186,057

–
–

_

1,998
51,132
132,927

–
–

Individuals
$’000

(23)

The following table breaks down the Group’s credit exposure at carrying amounts (without taking into account any collateral held or other credit
support), as categorised by the industry sectors of the Group’s counterparties.

(b) Industry risk concentration of assets and off balance sheet items

3.1.8. Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure…continued
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720,021

37,797
4,205

354,280
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As at September 30, 2010

Investment securities:
- Debt securities
- Other assets

Loans to corporate entities:
- Large corporate customers

Loans and advances to customers:
Loans to individuals:
- Overdrafts
- Term loans
- Mortgages

Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills

–
–
7,809

134,539

7,809

–
–

58

–
–
–

–
–
–

44,990
89,491
–

–
–
–

Tourism
$’000

Financial
institutions
$’000

(b) Industry risk concentration of assets and off balance sheet items … continued

54,675

–
–

54,675

–
–
–

–
–
–

Real
estate
$’000

3.1.8. Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure…continued

3

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

80,761

–
–

80,761

–
–
–

–
–
–

Wholesale
and retail
trade
$’000

156,015

–
7,889

111,249

–
–
19,494

–
–
17,383

Public
sector
$’000

163,192

50,372
–

89,764

–
–
23,056

–
–
–

Other
industries
$’000

178,942

–
–

–

2,693
51,973
124,276

–
–
–

Individuals
$’000

(24)

775,933

50,372
7,889

344,316

2,693
51,973
166,826

44,990
89,491
17,383

Total
$’000
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5,117

13,583

13,583

–

As at September 30, 2010

–

5,117

Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit
related obligations

–

–
5,117

–

5,117

Tourism
$’000

As at September 30, 2011

Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit
related obligations

Financial
institutions
$’000

–

–

–

–

–

Real
estate
$’000

(b) Industry risk concentration of assets and off balance sheet items … continued
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(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

81

–

81

81

–

81

Wholesale
and retail
trade
$’000

1,312

1,312

–

7,117

7,117

–

Public
sector
$’000

8,558

6,255

2,303

3,645

1,342

2,303

5,925

5,925

–

–

–

–

Other
industries Individuals
$’000
$’000

(25)
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3.2.1 Market risk
The Group takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value of cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk arises from open positions in
interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements
and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign
exchange rates and equity prices.
Non trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of the entity’s retail and commercial
banking assets and liabilities. Non trading portfolios also consist of foreign exchange and risks associated with
the change in equity prices arising from the Group’s available-for-sale investment securities.
3.2.2 Price risk
The Group is exposed to equities price risk because of investments held and classified on the balance sheet as
available-for-sale to mange this price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies
its portfolio.
3.2.3 Interest rate risk
The Group advances loans and receives deposits as a part of its normal course of business from both related
and third parties. The interest rates on loans generally reflect interest based on market rates. Investment
securities and customer deposits generally attract fixed interest rates. The Group mitigates its interest rate risk
by matching the maturity periods of its assets and liabilities. The following table below analyses the effective
interest rates of each class of financial asset and financial liability:
2011

2010

Loans and advances
Demand loans
Discount loans
Mortgage loans
Advances and overdrafts
Other

8-13%
11-22%
8-12%
8-12%
19.5%

8-13%
11-22%
8-12%
8-12%
19.5%

Investment securities
Government treasury bills
Other securities

4-6.5%
6.5%

6.4%
6.5%

(26)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.2.3 Interest rate risk…continued

Deposits due to customers
Demand deposits
Savings deposits
Time deposits
Other – thrift, pension
Debenture stock

2011

2010

3.0%
3.0% - 3.5%
4.8%
6.0% - 6.5%
6.5%

3.0%
3.0% - 3.5%
4.8%
6.0% - 6.5%
6.5%

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of the financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group takes on exposure to the
effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks.
Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected
movements arise.
The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Group’s financial
instruments at carrying amounts categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates.

(27)
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–
–
–
61,254,213
(43,964,051)

–
–

421,227,340

(254,678,363)

Total financial liabilities

Total interest repricing gap

17,290,162

166,548,977

–

504,671
–
4,365,491
–

4,264,050
–
87,247,080
–

61,254,213

–
12,420,000
–

–
34,692,795
40,345,052

3 - 6 months
$

421,227,340

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued
expenses
Due under repurchase
agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

Total financial assets

Assets
Cash and statutory balances
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
– Debt securities
– Equity securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

As at September 30, 2011

0 - 3 months
$

Financial risk management … continued

3.2.3 Interest rate risk … continued

3

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

(40,636,675)

79,974,206

1,572,073
–

–

78,402,133

(30,265,588)

77,242,135

–
19,695,000

–

57,547,135

46,976,547

–
–
46,976,547
–

–
–
5,163,669
–
39,337,531

–
–
–

1 - 3 years
$

–
34,173,862
–

6 months – 1
year
$

–

–
–

–

–

442,473,813

39,768,252
–
402,705,561
–

–
–
–

Over 6 years
$

(29,590,371) 442,473,813

67,497,365

–
9,900,000

–

57,597,365

37,906,994

2,562,302
–
35,344,692
–

–
–
–

3 - 5 years
$

6,156,352

–
–

6,156,352

–

69,265,061

–
25,562,121
–
4,258,746

38,985,419
458,775
–

Non-interest
bearing
$

(28)

713,351,611

1,572,073
29,595,000

6,156,352

676,028,186

819,799,085

47,099,275
25,562,121
581,803,040
4,258,746

38,985,419
81,745,432
40,345,052

Total
$
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162,580,073

Total financial assets

(254,593,626)

Total interest repricing gap

–
–

–
–

(25,872,132)

47,990,755

–

–

417,173,699

47,990,755

417,173,699

Total financial liabilities

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued
expenses
Due under repurchase
agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

–
–
726,623
–

3,604,597
–
75,055,679
–
22,118,623

–
21,392,000
–

40,727,183
25,809,643
17,382,971

3 - 6 months
$

Assets
Cash and statutory balances
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
– Debt securities
– Equity securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

As at September 30, 2010

0 - 3 months
$

Financial risk management … continued

3.2.3 Interest rate risk … continued

3

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

(10,235,916)

75,928,597

1,568,670
–

–

74,359,927

65,692,681

–
–
23,748,382
–

–
41,944,299
–

6 months – 1
year
$

(19,492,324)

62,120,923

–
5,000,000

–

57,120,923

42,628,599

4,065,635
–
38,562,964
–

–
–
–

1 - 3 years
$

(23,953,384)

82,942,442

–
28,205,000

–

54,737,442

58,989,058

2,942,800
–
56,046,258
–

–
–
–

3 - 5 years
$

411,427,768

–

–
–

–

–

411,427,768

39,759,362
–
371,668,406
–

–
–
–

Over 6 years
$

7,767,070

–
–

7,767,070

–

36,661,679

–
24,081,473
–
7,971,943

4,262,944
345,319
–

Non-interest
bearing
$

(29)

693,923,486

1,568,670
33,205,000

7,767,070

651,382,746

800,098,481

50,372,394
24,081,473
565,808,312
7,971,943

44,990,127
89,491,261
17,382,971

Total
$
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587,741
16,738,502
–
–
2,446,156
4,757
–
19,777,156
64,494,056
–
–
–
64,494,056
(44,716,900)

42,566,455
64,371,665
40,345,052
25,562,121
44,653,119
581,798,283
4,258,430
803,555,125
611,534,130
7,927,789
1,572,073
29,595,000
650,628,992
152,926,133

Total financial assets
Liabilities
Customer deposits
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet position

Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Deposits with banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
Available-for –sale – equity securities
Loans and receivables – debt securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

As at September 30, 2011

54,997

–

–
–
–
–

54,997

–
–
–
–

31,318
23,679
–

184,758

–
–
–
–
–
–

184,758

–
–
–
–

88,824
95,934
–

565,753

–
–
–
–
–
–

565,753

–
–
–
–

50,101
515,652
–

(30)

109,014,741

715,123,048

676,028,186
7,927,789
1,572,073
29,595,000

824,137,789

25,562,121
47,099,275
581,803,040
4,258,430

43,324,439
81,745,432
40,345,052

The exchange rate of the Eastern Caribbean dollar (EC$) to the United States dollar (US$) has been formally pegged at EC$2.7 =US$1.00 since 1974. The
table below summarises the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risk at September 30, 2011. Included in the table are the Group’s financial
instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency. Because all equity and debt investments are denominated either in United States dollars or in
Eastern Caribbean dollars, to which the US dollar is pegged, there would have been no impact or equity, if at September 30, 2011 the EC dollar had
weakened against other currencies.
XCD
USD
EUR
GBP
Others
Total
$
$
$
$
$
$

The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows.
Substantially all of the Group’s transactions and assets and liabilities are denominated in Eastern Caribbean dollars or United States dollars. Therefore, the
Group has no significant exposure to currency risk.
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–
2,882,769
–
–

24,081,473
47,489,625
565,808,312
7,971,943
787,550,089
624,010,150
7,767,070
1,568,670
33,205,000
666,550,890
120,999,199

Total financial assets

Liabilities
Customer deposits
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet position

(17,027,728)

27,372,596

27,372,596
–
–
–

10,344,868

671,234
6,790,865
–

USD
$

44,156,536
80,659,229
17,382,971

XCD
$

Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Deposits with banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
Available-for –sale – equity securities
Loans and receivables – debt securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

As at September 30, 2010

3.2.4
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(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

242,548

–

–
–
–
–

242,548

–
–
–
–

34,483
208,065
–

EUR
$

239,661

–

–
–
–
–

239,661

–
–
–
–

88,796
150,865
–

GBP
$

1,721,315

–

–
–
–
–

1,721,315

–
–
–
–

39,078
1,682,237
–

Others
$

(31)

106,174,995

693,923,486

651,382,746
7,767,070
1,568,670
33,205,000

800,098,481

24,081,473
50,372,394
565,808,312
7,971,943

44,990,127
89,491,261
17,382,971

Total
$
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Financial risk management … continued

3.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities
when they fall due as a result of customer deposits being withdrawn, cash requirements from contractual
commitments, or other cash outflows, such as debt maturities or margin calls for derivatives. Such outflows
would deplete available cash resources for client lending, trading activities and investments. In extreme
circumstances, lack of liquidity could result in reductions in the statement of financial position and sales of
assets, or potentially an inability to fulfil lending commitments. The risk that the Group will be unable to do so
is inherent in all banking operations and can be affected by a range of institution-specific and market-wide
events including, but not limited to, credit events, merger and acquisition activity, systemic shocks and natural
disasters.
The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current accounts
and maturing deposits. Management sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available to meet
such calls and on the minimum level of inter-bank and other borrowing facilities that should be in place to
cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand.
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities
as they mature are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to changes in
interest rates and exchange rates.
Liquidity risk management process
The Group’s liquidity management processes are carried out by the Group’s senior management and monitored
by the finance team including:
�

Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met.
This includes replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers. The Group maintains
an active presence in regional markets to enable this to happen;

�

Maintaining the liquidity ratios of the statement of financial position against internal and regulatory
requirements;

�

Monitoring the liquidity ratios of the statement of financial position against internal and regulatory
requirements; and

�

Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day, week and
month respectively; as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for those projections
is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the
financial assets.
Funding approach
Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by management and the Board of Directors in order to maintain a
wide diversification by currency, geography, provider, product and term.

(32)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.3 Liquidity risk…continued
Assets held for management of liquidity risk
The Group's assets held for managing liquidity risk comprise:
�
�
�
�
�

Cash and balanes with other banks;
Loans and advances;
Certificates of deposit;
Treasury and other eligible bills; and
Government bonds and other securities that are readily acceptable in repurchase agreements with central
banks.

In the normal course of business, a proportion of customers' loans contractually repayable in one year will be
extended. In addition, debt securities and treasury and other eligible bills can be pledged to secure liabilities.
The Group would also be able to meet unexpected net cash requirements by selling securities. The Group can
also access alternative funds for short-term borrowing needs via the Inter-bank market, lines of credit with
international banks and repurchase agreements.

(33)
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485,928,742
169,650,574

Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)

Assets held for managing liquidity risk (contractual
maturity dates)

45,062,953

478,523,297
122,850,198

Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)

Assets held for managing liquidity risk (contractual
maturity dates)
28,550,778

45,062,953
–
–
–

472,705,796
5,817,501
–
–

16,537,678

63,068,227

63,068,227
–
–
–

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

As at September 30, 2010

479,772,390
6,156,352
–
–

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

69,709,965

78,693,141

76,517,172
528,866
1,647,103
–

53,683,197

83,508,586

81,564,564
301,226
1,642,796
–

654,844,326

110,822,041

68,546,510
1,420,703
–
40,854,828

539,014,497

99,343,513

62,941,141
1,470,214
–
34,932,158

875,955,267

713,101,432

662,832,431
7,767,070
1,647,103
40,854,828

778,885,946

731,849,068

687,346,322
7,927,792
1,642,796
34,932,158

(34)

Non-derivative financial liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity risk
The table below presents the cash flows payable by and payable to the Group with respect to non-derivative financial liabilities and assets held for managing
liquidity risk by remaining contractual maturities at the date of the balance sheet date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows, whereas the Group manages liquidity risk based on a different basis (see Liquidity risk management process), not resulting in a significantly
different analysis.
6 – 12
0 – 3 months 3 – 6 months
months
1 – 5 years
Total
$
$
$
$
$
As at September 30, 2011
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Financial risk management … continued

3.4.1 Fair value
Fair value is the arm’s length consideration for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled
between knowledgeable, willing parties, who are under no compulsion to act as and is best evidenced by a
quoted market price, if one exists.
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities:
Carrying value
2011
2010
$
$
Financial assets
Treasury bills
Due from other banks
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Other assets

Financial liabilities
Customers’ deposits
Long-term debentures
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements

Fair value
2011
$

2010
$

40,345,052
81,745,432
581,803,040
72,661,396
4,258,430

17,382,971
89,491,261
565,808,312
74,453,867
7,971,943

40,345,052
81,745,432
586,940,181
72,661,396
4,258,430

17,382,971
89,491,261
566,479,965
74,453,867
7,971,943

780,813,350

755,108,354

785,950,491

755,780,007

676,028,186
29,595,000
7,927,792
1,572,073

651,382,746
33,205,000
7,767,070
1,568,670

676,028,186
24,736,670
7,927,792
1,572,073

651,382,746
33,205,000
7,767,070
1,568,670

715,123,051

693,923,486

710,264,721

693,923,486

The following methods and assumptions have been used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial
instruments for which it is practical to estimate a value:
•

Short-term financial assets and liabilities
The carrying value of these assets and liabilities is a reasonable estimate of their fair value because of the
short maturity of these instruments. Short-term financial assets are comprised of cash resources and short
term investments, fixed deposits, interest receivable, and other assets. Short-term financial liabilities are
comprised of demand deposits, interest payable and certain other liabilities.

•

Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are net of allowance for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances
represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash
flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value. Except for the staff loans, the interest
rates on all other loans reflect the market rates, hence the carrying values are considered to approximate the
fair values.

(35)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.4.1 Fair value…continued
� Deposits from banks and due to customers
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which include non-interest-bearing deposits, is
the amount repayable on demand.
The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits not quoted in an active market is based on
discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity. The interest rates
on the financial liabilities reflect the market interest rates, hence the carrying values are considered to
approximate the fair values.
� Investment securities
The fair value for loans and receivables and held-to-maturity assets are based on market prices or
broker/dealer price quotations. Where this information is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted
market prices for securities with similar credit, maturity and yield characteristics.
$53 million (2010: $53 million) of investment securities for which fair values cannot be reliably determined
were at cost less impairment. All other available for sale assets are already measured and carried at fair
value, less impairment, if any.
� Off-balance sheet financial instruments
The estimated fair values of the off-balance sheet financial instruments are based on markets prices for
similar facilities. When this information is not available, fair value is estimated using discounted cash flow
analysis.
3.4.2 Fair value hierarchy
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques
are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflects market data obtained from independent sources;
unobservable inputs reflect the Group's market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the
following fair value hierarchy:
� Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes listed debt
instruments listed on exchanges.
� Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liabilities, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
� Level 3 – Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable
components.

(36)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.4.2 Fair value hierarchy…continued
The hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Group considers relevant and
observable market prices in its valuations where possible.
Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

Investment securities
- Available-for-sale investments – unquoted
- Available-for-sale investments – quoted

–
19,379,769

6,182,352
–

6,182,352
19,379,769

Total assets

19,379,769

6,182,352

25,562,121

Investment securities
- Available-for-sale investments – unquoted
- Available-for-sale investments – quoted

–
18,108,172

5,973,300
–

5,973,300
18,108,172

Total assets

18,108,172

5,973,300

24,081,472

As at September 30, 2011
Financial assets

As at September 30, 2010
Financial assets

3.5

Financial assets and liabilities by category
The table below analyses the Group's financial assets and liabilities by category:
Loans and
receivables
$

Availablefor-sale
$

Total
$

Assets
Due from banks and other financial institutions
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Other financial assets

117,187,002
45,930,908
581,803,040
3,898,387

–
25,562,121
–
–

117,187,002
71,493,029
581,803,040
3,898,387

Total financial assets

748,819,337

25,562,121

774,381,460

As at September 30, 2011

(37)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.5 Financial assets and liabilities by category…continued

Liabilities
Customer deposits
Other liabilities and
accrued expenses
Total financial
liabilities

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
$

Total
$

676,028,186

676,028,186

1,483,741

1,483,741

677,511,927

677,511,927

The table below analyses the Group's financial assets and liabilities by category:
Loans and
receivables
$

Availablefor-sale
$

Total
$

Assets
Due from banks and other financial institutions
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Other financial assets

156,711,705
66,220,000
553,393,812
7,971,943

–
24,081,472
–
–

156,711,705
90,301,472
553,393,812
7,971,943

Total financial assets

784,297,460

24,081,472

808,378,932

As at September 30, 2010

Liabilities
Customer deposits
Other liabilities and
accrued expenses
Total financial
liabilities

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
$

Total
$

674,085,161

674,085,161

3,366,052

3,366,052

677,451,213

677,451,213
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Financial risk management … continued

3.6 Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of the
balance sheet, are:
�

To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank;

�

To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

�

To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored quarterly by the Group’s management,
employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee and as implemented by the
Group’s management for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank (ECCB) quarterly for the commercial bank.
The regulatory capital requirements are strictly observed when managing economic capital. The Group’s
regulatory capital is managed by senior management and comprises two tiers:
�

Tier 1 capital: share capital (net of any book values of the treasury shares), general bank reserve, statutory
reserve, non-controlling interests arising on consolidation from interests in permanent shareholders’
equity, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained earnings. The book value of
goodwill (if applicable) is deducted in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and

�

Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances and unrealised gains
arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as available for sale.

Investments in associates are deducted from Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital to arrive at the regulatory capital.

(39)
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Financial risk management … continued

3.6 Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of the
balance sheet, are:
�

To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank;

�

To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

�

To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored quarterly by the Group’s management,
employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee and as implemented by the
Group’s management for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank (ECCB) quarterly for the commercial bank.
The regulatory capital requirements are strictly observed when managing economic capital. The Group’s
regulatory capital is managed by senior management and comprises two tiers:
�

Tier 1 capital: share capital (net of any book values of the treasury shares), general bank reserve, statutory
reserve, non-controlling interests arising on consolidation from interests in permanent shareholders’
equity, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained earnings. The book value of
goodwill (if applicable) is deducted in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and

�

Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances and unrealised gains
arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as available for sale.

Investments in associates are deducted from Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital to arrive at the regulatory capital.
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Financial risk management … continued

3.6 Capital management … continued
The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Bank for the years
ended September 30, 2011 and 2010. During those two years, the Bank complied with all of the externally
imposed capital requirements to which they are subject.
2011
$

2010
$

5,000,000
10,000,000
40,610,183
53,642,013

5,000,000
10,000,000
40,610,183
45,579,738

109,252,196

101,189,921

Revaluation reserve-available-for-sale investments
Reserves for losses on assets

8,642,377
14,329,716

10,180,474
18,208,550

Total qualifying Tier 2 capital

22,972,093

28,389,024

–

–

Total regulatory capital

132,224,289

129,578,945

Risk-weighted assets:
On-balance sheet
Off-balance sheet

493,783,000
26,558,000

536,655,000
34,576,722

Total risk-weighted assets

520,341,000

571,231,722

25.4%

22.4%

Tier 1 capital
Share capital (net of the treasury shares)
Share premium
General banking reserves
Retained earnings
Total qualifying Tier 1 capital
Tier 2 capital

Less investments in associates

Basel ratio

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital for the mortgage company are managed based on the
following.
The Financial Institutions (Non-Banking) Act requires a reserve fund into which no less than ten per cent of the
net profit of the institution after deduction of taxes shall be transferred each year until the amount standing to
the credit of the reserve fund is equal at least to the paid up capital of that institution. There are no further
capital and reserve requirements by the regulators and no external monitoring of the capital base is conducted.
The Company was compliant with these requirements as at September 30, 2011 and September 30, 2010.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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Financial risk management … continued

3.7 Off-balance sheet items
(i)

Loan commitments, financial guarantees and other financial facilities
The contractual amounts of the Group’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that it commits to extend
to customers and other facilities are summarised in note 29.

(ii) Operating lease commitments
Where the Group is the lessee, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases, are disclosed in note 29.
(iii) Capital commitments
There were no capital commitments for the acquisition of buildings and equipment at the financial year
end.
4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Group's financial statements and its financial result are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions,
estimates and management judgement, which necessarily have to be made in the course of preparation of the
financial statements.
Accounting policies and management's judgements for certain items are especially critical for the Group's
results and financial situation due to their materality.
(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Group makes judgements as to whether
there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. This
evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment
status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on
assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling
its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of
future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.
To the extent that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +/-10%, the provision would be
estimated $1,564,451 lower or $2,617,690 higher.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements … continued
(b) Impairment of investment securities
The Group determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is significant
or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates among other factors, the
normal volatility in share price. In addition, for unquoted available-for-sale equity investments,
impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of a deterioration in the financial health of the
investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash
flows. These factors may give rise to an uncertainty regarding the recoverability of the carrying value in
the subsequent period and/or the eventual recoverability of the amounts invested in full. No impairment
on investment securities was recognized by the Group during the year.
The subsidiary has estimated the impairment of one of its loans and receivables securities based on
expected future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate of the security. The sensitivity
of management’s estimate is dependent on the expected period of repayments. Were the actual final
outcome to differ from management’s estimated period by +/- two years, the impact on net income for the
year would be $707,737 lower or $803,439 higher.
In addition the subsidiary company has estimated the impairment of its unquoted available-for-sale
securities at the year end based on the best available market data. Were the final outcome to differ by +/10% from management’s estimates, the impact on net income would be $99,000 lower or higher.
(c) Estimate of pension benefits
The present value of the pension obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an
actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income)
for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount
of pension obligations.
The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that
should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to
settle the pension obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the
interest rates of Government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid,
and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability.
Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional
information is disclosed in note 13.
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5

Cash and balances with the Central Bank
2011
$

2010
$

Cash on hand
Balances with the ECCB other than mandatory reserve deposits

6,299,533
723,896

7,179,107
2,509,418

Included in cash and cash equivalents (note 27)

7,023,429

9,688,525

Mandatory reserve deposits

31,961,990

31,038,658

Total cash and balances with the Central Bank

38,985,419

40,727,183

Commercial banks doing banking business in member states of the Organization of the Eastern Caribbean
States are required to maintain a non-interest bearing reserve with the ECCB equivalent to 6% of their total
deposit liabilities (excluding inter-bank deposits and foreign currencies). This reserve deposit is not available
for use in the Bank’s day-to-day operations.

6

Due from other banks
2011
$

2010
$

Term deposits and operating accounts with banks
Items in the course of collection from other banks

77,155,740
4,211,343

84,047,957
4,986,947

Included in cash and cash equivalents (note 27)

81,367,083

89,034,904

378,349

456,357

81,745,432

89,491,261

Interest receivable

Total due from other banks

(43)

82

SOLID FOUNDATION

Antigua Commercial Bank LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DRAFT

Commercial30,
Bank
Limited
AsAntigua
of September
2011
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

7

Treasury bills
Nominal
Value
2011
$

Cost
2011
$

Nominal
Value
2010
$

Cost
2010
$

Treasury bills at amortised cost – OECS
Governments with maturity dates from
October 2011 to November 2011 and
interest rates ranging from 4% to 6.50%

40,500,000

39,933,964

17,500,000

17,213,904

Included in cash and cash equivalents
(note 27)

40,500,000

39,933,964

17,500,000

17,213,904

–

411,088

–

169,067

40,500,000

40,345,052

17,500,000

17,382,971

Interest receivable
Total treasury bills

Government of Antigua and Barbuda bonds totalling $3,936,604 (2010: $3,936,604) have been hypothecated
to obtain general credit facilities from the ECCB.

8

Statutory deposit

Statutory reserve deposit with the Government of Antigua and
Barbuda

2011
$

2010
$

4,339,020

4,262,944

A subsidiary company has placed a statutory deposit with the Government of Antigua and Barbuda equivalent
to 2½% of its deposit liabilities. The statutory reserve deposit is a statutory requirement as per section 17(a) of
the Financial Institutions (Non-Banking) Act, 1985. This reserve is non-interest bearing and is not available for
the Company’s day-to-day operations.
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9

Loans and advances
2011
$

2010
$

287,293,808
229,901,069
57,400,006
12,975,328
4,856,351
–
1,451,173

268,418,587
222,935,053
56,749,999
15,655,145
4,949,161
1,561,864
1,294,260

593,877,735

571,564,069

Interest receivable
Deferred loan origination fees
Allowance for loan impairment

16,347,497
(1,863,707)
(26,558,485)

14,270,725
(1,593,666)
(18,432,816)

Total loans and advances

581,803,040

565,808,312

2011
$

2010
$

Business loans
Mortgage loans
Personal loans
Bridging loans
Staff loans
Directors loans
Credit card advances

Allowance for loan impairment

The movement in allowance for loan impairment:
Balance, beginning of year
Write-off loan balances
Provision for loan impairment

18,432,816
(145,578)
8,271,247

22,363,740
–
(3,930,924)

Balance, end of year

26,558,485

18,432,816

According to the ECCB loan provisioning guidelines, the calculated allowance for loan impairment amounts to
$28,580,895 (2010: $25,925,164) and the difference between this figure and the loan loss provision calculated
under IAS 39 has been set aside as a specific reserve in equity. The carrying value of impaired loans at the year
end was $37,123,184 (2010: $24,465,606). Interest receivable on loans not recognised for regulatory purposes
amounted to $12,307,306 (2010: $10,716,201), and is included in the reserve.

Current
Non-current

2011
$

2010
$

96,776,240

99,530,684

485,026,800

466,277,628

581,803,040

565,808,312
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10 Other assets

Bills receivable
Suspense accounts
Credit card receivables
Prepayments
Dividends receivable
Miscellaneous receivables
Less:
Provision for impairment of bills receivable

2011
$

2010
$

1,265,981
582,511
2,049,895
594,150
–
409,943

6,929,223
497,423
1,027,203
752,481
53,745
149,405

4,902,480

9,409,480

(49,900)

(685,056)

Total other assets

4,852,580

8,724,424

Current

4,852,580

8,724,424

Impairment of bills receivable charged to general and administrative expense as at September 30, 2011 amounts
to $nil (2010: $nil).
11 Investment securities
2011
$

2010
$

Available-for-sale unquoted
Equity Securities (US$)
Equity Securities (EC$)

–
7,172,352

8,846,334
6,963,301

Total available-for-sale unquoted

7,172,352

15,806,635

19,379,769

18,108,172

Loans and receivables
Government securities
Corporate securities

3,946,156
44,188,466

4,382,769
48,440,266

Total loans and receivables

48,134,622

52,823,035

74,686,743

86,737,842

Available-for-sale quoted
Equity securities (EC$)
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11 Investment securities … continued
2011
$

2010
$

Provision for impairment – available-for-sale unquoted
Provision for impairment – loans and receivables

(990,000)
(2,203,714)

(9,833,334)
(3,652,075)

Total provision for impairment

(3,193,714)

(13,485,409)

71,493,029

73,252,433

1,168,367

1,201,434

72,661,396

74,453,867

Interest receivable
Total investment securities
The movement in investment securities may be summarised as follows:

2011
$

2010
$

Available-for-sale
Beginning of year
Additions
Provision for impairment
Unrealised loss from change in fair value

24,081,474
3,748,750
–
(2,268,103)

30,190,404
131,200
(4,970,565)
(1,269,565)

End of year

25,562,121

24,081,474

49,170,959
–
(2,436,612)
(803,439)

52,659,738
270,000
(3,758,779)
–

45,930,908

49,170,959

All available-for-sale securities are non-current.
Loans and receivables
Beginning of year
Additions
Disposals (sale and redemption)
Provision for impairment

All loans and receivables are non-current.
There are no losses from disposal of investment securities.
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Closing net book amount

23,913,654
161,989
(676,300)
–
–
47
–
–
–
23,399,390

–
–

–
–

–

11,705,880

23,913,654

29,580,075
(5,666,421)

Buildings &
building
improvements
$

11,705,880
–
–
–

11,705,880

Net book amount

Year ended September 30,
2010
Opening net book amount
Additions
Depreciation charge
Revaluation Adjustment
Write back of accumulated
depreciation
Adjustment - Cost
Adjustment – Accumulated
depreciation
Disposals
Accumulated Depreciation disposals

11,705,880
–

Land
$

At September 30, 2009
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

12 Property, plant and equipment

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

1,068,353

–

–
–

–
714

386,394
855,542
(174,297)
–

386,394

4,861,641
(4,475,247)

1,049,112

4,675

8,036
(4,675)

–
5,844

1,147,110
109,413
(221,291)
–

1,147,110

7,609,170
(6,462,060)

Furniture
and
fixtures Equipment
$
$

206,477

161,957

226
(161,957)

–
(2)

267,908
44,555
(106,210)
–

267,908

1,663,683

2,276,673

–

(75,954)
–

–
(3,723)

1,170,727

–

31,541
–

–
(111,240)

1,285,374 1,663,683
1,463,703
619,173
(392,727) (1,032,430)
–
–

1,285,374

790,882 8,442,707 7,271,088
(522,974) (7,157,333) (5,607,405)

Total
$

40,388,718

14,036

–

–
–

–
–

(48)

40,890,648

166,632

(36,151)
(166,632)

–
(108,360)

18,715 40,388,718
–
3,254,375
(4,679) (2,607,934)
–
–

18,715

160,615 70,422,058
(141,900) (30,033,340)

Motor Computer Computer
vehicles hardware
software Car park
$
$
$
$
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Closing net book amount

–

–
22,826,179

258
–

–
–

11,705,880

23,399,390
120,743
(694,212)

11,705,880
–
–

23,399,390

11,705,880

Net book amount

Year ended September 30,
2011
Opening net book amount
Additions
Depreciation charge
Adjustment - Accumulated
depreciation
Disposal
Accumulated Depreciation disposals

29,742,111
(6,342,721)

11,705,880
–

At September 30, 2010
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

Land
$

Buildings &
building
improvements
$

12 Property, plant and equipment … continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

1,246,387

–

15,422
–

1,068,353
517,269
(354,657)

1,068,353

5,717,897
(4,649,544)

985,545

–

–
–

1,049,112
153,841
(217,408)

1,049,112

7,724,427
(6,675,315)

Furniture
and
fixtures Equipment
$
$

113,013

–

(10,987)
–

206,477
–
(82,477)

206,477

1,880,153

–

(30,701)
–

2,276,673
288,628
(654,447)

2,276,673

807,646

785

(37,956)
(2,633)

1,170,727
238,067
(561,344)

1,170,727

835,435 9,902,687 7,779,021
(628,958) (7,626,014) (6,608,294)

Total
$

9,357

–

–
–

14,036
–
(4,679)

14,036

(49)

39,574,160

785

(63,964)
(2,633)

40,890,648
1,318,548
(2,569,224)

40,890,648

160,615 73,568,073
(146,579) (32,677,425)

Motor Computer Computer
vehicles hardware
software Car park
$
$
$
$
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Net book amount

Accumulated depreciation

Cost or valuation

At September 30, 2011

11,705,880

–

11,705,880

Land
$

6,235,166
(4,988,779)
1,246,387

(7,036,675)
22,826,179
985,545

(6,892,723)

7,878,268

Furniture
and
fixtures Equipment
$
$

29,862,854

Buildings &
building
improvements
$

12 Property, plant and equipment … continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

8,014,455

113,013

1,880,153

807,646

(722,422) (8,311,162) (7,206,809)

835,435 10,191,315

74,883,988

Total
$

9,357

(50)

39,574,160

(151,258) (35,309,828)

160,615

Motor Computer Computer
vehicles hardware
software Car park
$
$
$
$
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12 Property, plant and equipment … continued
As of September 30, 2011 all of the Bank’s land and buildings and improvements were revalued based on the
appraisal made by an independent firm of appraisers. Valuations were made on the basis of comparative recent
market transactions on arm’s length terms. The revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred income taxes was
credited to ‘other reserves’ in shareholder’s equity (note 23).
The following is the historical cost carrying amount of land and buildings carried at revalued amounts as of
September 30, 2011.
Land
$

Buildings
$

Total
$

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

2,302,078
–

19,176,461
(6,674,683)

21,478,539
(6,674,683)

Net book values

2,302,078

12,501,778

14,803,856

13 Pension asset
The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme for all its eligible employees which commenced October
1, 1991. The assets of the plan are held in a seven member trustee administered fund, established by the Group
with four of the trustees appointed by the Board of Directors, and three appointed by the employees. The funds
of the scheme are invested under the control of the trustees and may be used only for the purposes of the
scheme.
The Plan is valued every three years by an independent qualified actuary. The latest available valuation was
performed at September 30, 2011 using the projected unit credit method. At September 30, 2011, the actuarial
valuation showed that the Plan is over funded with net assets available for benefits representing 143% of
accrued projected plan benefits, and indicated a required contribution rate by the Group, for the next three
years, of less than 5% of pensionable salaries.
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:
Present value of funded obligations
Fair value of plan assets

Unrecognised actuarial gains
Net asset recognised in balance sheet

2011
$

2010
$

(10,469,606)
18,364,798

(9,559,395)
18,293,540

7,895,192

8,734,145

(815,246)
7,079,946

(2,309,016)
6,425,129

(51)
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13 Pension asset … continued
The movements in the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2011
$
9,559,395
696,010
531,346
(295,468)
(21,677)

Beginning of year
Interest cost
Current service cost
Benefits paid
Actuarial (gain) loss on obligations
End of year

2010
$
9,547,067
684,401
523,805
(587,431)
(608,447)

10,469,606

9,559,395

The movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows based on actuarial reports:
2011
$

2010
$

Beginning of year
Expected return on plan assets
Contributions
Benefits paid
Actuarial gain (loss) on plan assets

18,293,540
1,110,884
737,863
(295,468)
(1,482,021)

16,984,309
1,021,135
656,645
(587,431)
218,882

End of year

18,364,798

18,293,540

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:
2011
$

2010
$

19%
34%
28%
19%

20%
29%
32%
19%

Cash and cash equivalents
Debt securities
Equity securities
Property

The pension plan assets include ordinary shares issued by Antigua Commercial Bank with a value of $56,700
(2010: $37,800). Plan assets include deposits held with the Bank with a fair value of $542,383 (2010:
$701,699). The actual return on plan assets was ($371,137) (2010: $1,240,017).
Amounts for the current period and previous three periods are as follows:

Defined benefit
obligation
Plan assets
Surplus
Unrecognised gains
at end of year

2011
$

2010
$

(10,469,606)
18,364,798

(9,559,395)
18,293,540

7,895,192
815,246

2009
$

2008
$

2007
$

(9,547,067)
16,984,309

(8,237,133)
16,111,293

(9,416,884)
13,943,780

8,734,145

7,437,242

7,874,160

4,526,896

2,309,016

1,481,688

2,576,677

377,120

(52)
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13 Pension asset … continued
The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows
2011
$
Current service cost
Interest on defined benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Net actuarial (gains) loss recognised in the year
Net income recognised

2010
$

160,136
696,010
(1,110,884)
(33,426)

195,483
684,401
(1,021,135)
–

(288,164)

(141,251)

Assumptions used in determining the present value of the obligation were as follows:

Discount rate at end of year
Expected return on plan assets at end of year
Future promotional salary increases
Future pension increases
Future changes in Social Security ceiling

2011
%
7.0
6.0
4.0
0.0
0.0

2010
%
7.0
6.0
1.8 – 8.7
0.0
0.0

Contributions to the pension scheme for the year ended September 30, 2011 amounted to $336,775, being
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited: $301,769; ACB Mortgage & Trust Limited: $35,006 (2010: $328,715 –
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited, $292,951: ACB Mortgage & Trust Limited, $35,764). The Bank’s
contributions are adjusted according to the actuary’s recommendations. Contributions expected to be paid to
the plan for the subsequent period are budgeted at $395,176.

14 Deposits due to customers
2011
$

2010
$

319,333,935
198,213,129
79,165,054
74,194,950

304,927,930
197,434,031
87,085,102
57,688,480

670,907,068

647,135,543

5,121,118

4,247,203

Total deposits due to customers

676,028,186

651,382,746

Current

560,883,686

539,524,381

Non-current

115,144,500

111,858,365

676,028,186

651,382,746

Savings accounts
Time deposits
Current accounts
Other Deposits

Interest payable

(53)
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15 Other liabilities and accrued expenses
2011
$

2010
$

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Manager’s cheques
Escrow accounts
Other sundry payables
Statutory deductions payable
Bills payable

4,251,476
1,483,741
1,470,213
375,652
323,035
23,675

3,843,780
1,901,911
1,420,703
293,656
163,945
143,074

Total other liabilities and accrued expenses

7,927,792

7,767,069

Current

6,457,579

6,346,366

Non-current

1,470,213

1,420,703

7,927,792

7,767,069

16 Dividends
The dividend proposed in respect of the 2011 financial year end is 30% of paid up capital or EC$1,500,000 or
$0.30 per share (2010: 30% or EC$1,500,000 or $0.30 per share).
The financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2011 do not reflect this proposed dividend which, if
ratified, will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ended September
30, 2012. There was no payment for dividends in respect of the financial year end 2011.
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17 Taxation
2011
$

2010
$

6,743,333
2,265,710
(2,222,812)
367,585

5,645,919
3,478,706
–
(2,381,292)

Income tax payable, end of year

7,153,816

6,743,333

Income tax expense
Operating income for the year

9,510,655

16,239,439

Income tax expense at statutory rate
Other non-deductible expenses
Effect of other permanent differences
Dividend income not subject to tax
Untaxed interest income
Prior years’ tax under (over) accrual
Provision for impairment on equity investments - disallowed

2,248,471
161,067
2,264
(304,078)
(751,144)
367,585
–

3,857,925
84,894
6,013
(324,068)
(562,932)
(2,381,292)
1,131,625

Actual income tax expense

1,724,165

1,812,165

Income tax payable
Income tax recoverable, beginning of year
Current tax expense
Payments made during the year
Prior year under (over) accrual

The effective tax rate for Antigua Commercial Bank is 25% (2010: 25%) and for ACB Mortgage and Trust is
20% (2010: 20%).
2011
2010
$
$
Deferred tax liability, net
Balance, beginning of year
Charge for the year
Movement on revaluation of available for sale securities
Movement on revaluation of buildings

8,224,123
(909,130)
(550,006)
(12,942)

7,835,111
714,751
(312,465)
(13,274)

Balance, end of year

6,752,045

8,224,123

(55)
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17

Taxation … continued
The components of the deferred tax liability (net of deferred tax assets) are as follows:
2011
$
Statutory loan loss reserve
Deferred tax on revaluation of available-for-sale securities
Pension asset
Revaluation of property
Deferred commission
Decelerated capital allowances
Balance, end of year

2010
$

3,540,687
2,752,735
1,769,987
504,742
(419,991)
(1,396,115)

4,536,720
3,302,741
1,606,282
517,684
(354,301)
(1,385,003)

6,752,045

8,224,123

The income tax payable does not represent amounts agreed with the Tax Authority. The amount is reflective of
the Group’s position concerning its tax balance with the Inland Revenue Department on the basis of its records.
However, as tax returns for years of assessment 1999 to the present have not been finalised with the IRD, there
is uncertainty as to the eventual outcome.

18 Related party transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.
A number of banking transactions were entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These
include loans, deposits and other transactions. These transactions were carried out on commercial terms and at
market rates. The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end and related
expenses and income for the year are as follows:
2011
$

2010
$

Loans to Directors and key members of management
Loans outstanding at beginning of year
Loans issued during the year
Loans repayments during the year

1,005,055
1,715,083
(931,007)

1,717,405
121,000
(833,350)

Loans outstanding at end of year

1,789,131

1,005,055

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties (2010: nil).
Interest income earned on directors’ and key members of management’s loans and advances during the year is
$92,349 (2010: $97,398). The average interest rate on these loans is 11% (2010: 11%) and they are granted on
an arms length basis.
2011
2010
$
$
Deposits by Directors and key members of management
4,168,360
Deposits at beginning of year
2,636,646
10,846,993
Deposits received during the year
5,276,799
(4,219,716)
Deposits repaid during the year
(3,745,085)
Deposits at end of year

10,795,637

4,168,360
(56)
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18 Related party transactions … continued
Interest expense paid on directors’ and key members of management’s deposits during the year is $380,726
(2010: $131,005). The average interest rate on these deposits is 3% to 5.50% (2010: 3% to 5.5%) and they are
accepted on an arms length basis.
Remuneration of key members of management
During the year, salaries and related benefits were paid to key members of management allocated as follows:

Salaries and wages
Other staff costs
Pension costs

2011
$

2010
$

901,156
219,417
29,607

760,872
248,960
23,171

1,150,180

1,033,003

19 Due under repurchase agreements
2011
$

2010
$

Antigua Pier Group Series A bonds

1,572,073

1,568,670

Total due under repurchase agreements

1,572,073

1,568,670

The repurchase agreements indicate that the Group agrees to transfer APG Bonds to the buyer and
simultaneously agrees with the buyer to repurchase said securities at a determined date. In all of the above
cases the repurchase price was equivalent to the face value.

20 Long-term debenture liabilities
2011
$

2010
$

Authorised: debenture stock

29,595,000

33,205,000

Issued and fully paid:
Debenture stock at beginning of year
Debenture stock redeemed
Debenture stock issued

33,205,000
(5,685,000)
2,075,000

29,110,000
(14,110,000)
18,205,000

Debenture stock at end of year

29,595,000

33,205,000

Debenture stocks

(57)
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20 Long-term debenture liabilities … continued
2011
$

2010
$

–

5,000,000

Debenture stock 12th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on March 31, 2014

9,835,000

10,000,000

Debenture stock 13th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on September 30,
2014
Debenture stock 14th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on March 31, 2015

9,860,000
9,900,000

8,980,000
9,225,000

29,595,000

33,205,000

Authorised share capital
3,762,500 shares at nil par value

2011
$

2010
$

5,000,000

5,000,000

Issued and fully paid:
12,500 shares of no par value (originally issued at $100 per share)
3,750,000 shares of no par value (originally issued at $1 per share)

1,250,000
3,750,000

1,250,000
3,750,000

5,000,000

5,000,000

Debenture stock 11th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on September 30,
2013

Total long-term liabilities

21 Share capital
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22 Statutory reserve

Balance at beginning and end of year

2011
$
10,000,000

2010
$
10,000,000

Section 14 (1) of the Antigua and Barbuda Banking Act of 2005 provides that not less than 20% of each year’s
net earnings shall be set aside to a reserve fund whenever the fund is less than the paid-up capital of the Bank.
This section also applies to the subsidiary company.

23 Other reserves
2011
$

2010
$

General reserve
Capital reserve
Regulatory reserve for loan impairment
Revaluation reserve – property
Revaluation reserve – available for sale securities
Pension reserve

26,723,105
7,461,949
14,329,716
9,658,027
8,462,377
7,079,946

26,723,105
7,461,949
18,208,550
9,696,853
10,180,474
6,425,129

Total other reserves

73,715,120

78,696,060

2011
$

2010
$

Regulatory reserve for loan impairment
Balance at the beginning of the year
Increase (decrease) in reserves for regulatory purposes

18,208,550
(3,878,834)

16,560,739
1,647,811

Balance at the end of year

14,329,716

18,208,550

Revaluation reserve for available-for-sale securities
Balance at the beginning of the year
Loss from changes in fair value
Deferred income taxes

10,180,474
(2,268,104)
550,007

11,137,574
(1,269,565)
312,465

Balance at end of the year

8,462,377

10,180,474

Revaluation reserve - property
Balance at the beginning of the year
Reversal of revaluation released through depreciation
Deferred income taxes

9,696,853
(51,768)
12,942

9,736,675
(53,096)
13,274

Balance at end of year

9,658,027

9,696,853

An independent valuation of land and buildings was conducted in 2011 (note 12).
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23 Other reserves … continued

Pension reserve
Balance at beginning of year
Increase in pension reserve

2011
$

2010
$

6,425,129
654,817

5,955,555
469,574

Balance at end of year

7,079,946

6,425,129

General reserve
At the discretion of the Board of Directors, amounts are periodically appropriated from net income to general
reserve for general purposes and for possible future loan losses.
Capital reserve
Included in this balance is an amount of $6,171,428 recorded in the prior years for share premium recognised.
Pension reserve
The Board of Directors has decided to appropriate annually out of net income the amounts necessary to
maintain a pension reserve equivalent to the pension asset.
Revaluation reserve – property
This represents the increase in property, plant and equipment’s carrying amount as a result of revaluation.
Revaluation reserve – available for sale securities
Certain available-for-sale securities are stated at market value with the unrealised gains (losses) reflected in
equity until realised.
Loan loss reserve
The reserve represents the additional provision required by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank prudential
guidelines as compared to the provision measured in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, including the interest on loans not recognised for regulatory purposes.

24 Other operating income
2011
$

2010
$

Fees and commissions
Foreign exchange
Dividend income
Miscellaneous income
Recovery of loans written off
Rental income

3,684,762
2,607,936
1,221,729
487,264
142,219
101,099

2,909,826
2,946,456
1,319,553
332,379
675,897
195,476

Total other operating income

8,245,009

8,379,587
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25 General and administrative expenses
2011
$

2010
$

Salaries and related costs (note 28)
Utilities
Software operating expenses
Insurance expense
Printing and stationery expenses
Repairs and maintenance
Cleaning
Rent
Legal and professional fees
Security services
Advertising and promotion
Telephone, postage, telegram expenses
Audit fees and expenses
Restructuring costs
Agency expenses
Night depository
ECCB expenses
Licenses and taxes
Miscellaneous expenses
Shareholders’ meeting expenses
Subscriptions and fees
Vehicle expenses
Scholarship fund
Non-credit losses
Wire services expense
Travel and entertainment
STP final settlement cost

10,716,948
1,083,810
768,200
647,209
561,149
440,617
430,344
417,529
397,364
395,047
383,509
381,282
370,088
359,674
342,370
296,826
280,781
254,510
243,714
216,405
213,250
99,262
60,000
36,529
34,389
22,731
–

10,883,764
985,275
558,895
820,382
498,936
524,417
356,190
257,243
368,704
418,099
414,218
431,415
370,088
766,030
285,092
311,807
522,141
272,262
422,453
172,026
110,809
79,888
62,603
1,838,378
42,719
55,883
377,292

Total general and administrative expenses

19,453,537

22,207,009

26 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Net profit attributable to shareholders
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Basic and diluted earnings per share

2011
$

2010
$

7,786,490
3,762,500

14,427,274
3,762,500

2.07

3.83
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27 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and balances with the Central Bank (note 5)
Due from other banks (note 6)
Treasury bills (note 7)
Total cash and cash equivalents

2011
$

2010
$

7,023,429
81,367,083
39,933,964

9,688,525
89,034,904
17,213,904

128,324,476

115,937,333

2011
$

2010
$

28 Salaries and related costs

Salaries, wages and allowances
Other staff costs
Statutory deductions
Pension income
Total salaries and related costs

9,944,979
489,643
535,484
(253,158)
10,716,948

9,591,063
872,734
561,219
(141,252)
10,883,764

29 Commitments and contingencies
Pending litigation
Various actions and legal proceedings may arise against the Bank during the normal course of business. The
Bank is currently involved in two employee-related legal matters; for which the outcome of the first matter has
been determined with damages to be decided by the Court, and the outcome of the second matter can not be
presently determined. The amount of the liability, if any, will be contingent on the eventual outcome of court
proceedings and will be recognised at that time.
Credit related commitments
The contractual amounts of the Group’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that commit it to extend credit
to customers are listed below:

Undrawn commitments to extend advances

2011
$

2010
$

20,773,610

27,075,265

(62)
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29 Commitments and contingencies … continued
Off balance sheet items
The Group had letters of credit outstanding at the year end in the following amounts:

Letters of Credit

As at September 30, 2011
Loan commitments (undrawn)
Letters of credit
As at September 30, 2010
Loan commitments (undrawn)
Letters of credit

2011
$

2010
$

7,501,457

7,501,457

Up to 1 year
$

Total
$

20,773,610

20,773,610

7,501,457

7,501,457

27,075,265

27,075,265

7,501,457

7,501,457

(63)
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